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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 500.1(F) OF 

THE RULES OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 

Pursuant to Section 500.1(f) of the Rules of Practice for this Court, the 

undersigned counsel for Respondents-Appellants states as follows: 

1. The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative LLC f/k/a Trump University LLC 

is owned by DJT Entrepreneur Member LLC f/k/a DJT University Member LLC, 

and DJT Entrepreneur Managing Member LLC f/k/a DJT University Managing 

Member LLC. 

2. DJT Entrepreneur Member LLC f/k/a DJT University Member LLC, 

DJT Entrepreneur Managing Member LLC f/k/a DJT University Managing 

Member LLC, The Trump Organization, Inc. and Trump Organization LLC are 

each wholly owned by Donald J. Trump. 

3. The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative LLC f/k/a Trump University LLC 

has no subsidiaries.  



 

 

Respondents-Appellants The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative LLC f/k/a 

Trump University LLC (“TEI”), DJT Entrepreneur Member LLC f/k/a DJT 

University Member LLC, DJT Entrepreneur Managing Member LLC f/k/a DJT 

University Managing Member LLC, The Trump Organization, Inc., Trump 

Organization LLC and Donald J. Trump (collectively, the “Trump Appellants”), 

and Michael Sexton (together with the Trump Appellants, “Appellants”) 

respectfully submit this brief in support of their appeal from the decision and order 

of the Appellate Division, First Department dated March 1, 2016 and entered May 

17, 2016 (the “Decision”) which:  (i) reinstated the first cause of action asserted by 

Petitioner-Appellee Attorney General Eric T. Schneiderman (the “AG”) under 

Executive Law § 63(12) (“§ 63(12)”); (ii) held that the § 63(12) claim is subject to 

the six-year common law fraud statute of limitations under CPLR § 213(1) but 

does not require a showing of scienter or reliance; (iii) affirmed the dismissal of 

seven of the Trump Appellants’ affirmative defenses;1 (iv) affirmed refusal to 

convert the special proceeding into a plenary action; and (v) affirmed restrictions 

on Appellants’ discovery.  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This appeal arises from a case filed by the AG purporting to challenge TEI’s 

business practices more than three years after TEI ceased doing business in 

                                                 
1  Appellant Michael Sexton did not assert these affirmative defenses. 
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marketing educational services and more than two years after the AG commenced 

his politically-motivated investigation.   

The Supreme Court dismissed two of the AG’s six claims in their entirety 

and, based on the three-year statute of limitations in CPLR § 214(2) (applicable to 

liabilities created by statute), limited three of his claims to the period beginning on 

May 31, 2010.  The AG did not appeal from these holdings, which are not at issue 

here. 

At issue on this appeal is the AG’s first claim, a purported fraud claim 

asserted under § 63(12), which authorizes the AG to seek injunctive and other 

relief in cases involving “repeated” or “persistent” fraud or illegality.  Id.  The 

Supreme Court dismissed the claim on the ground that § 63(12) did not create a 

new, standalone cause of action but only expanded the remedies the AG may seek 

for pre-existing causes of actions.  Accordingly, the court held that the AG, to 

obtain § 63(12) relief, must plead and prove all of the elements of a common law 

fraud claim, including scienter and individual justifiable reliance for each TEI 

customer, and invited the AG to amend his petition to assert such a claim.  The AG 

declined that invitation and appealed to the Appellate Division.   

The Appellate Division reversed, holding that § 63(12) does authorize its 

own statutory standalone fraud claim, that the AG need not plead or prove scienter 
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or reliance, and that the applicable statute of limitations period is six years under 

the catch-all provision in CPLR § 213(1) which applies to common law fraud. 

The Appellate Division’s decision should be reversed.  Its holding that 

§ 63(12) authorizes a standalone fraud claim is, as shown below, contrary to 

controlling decisions of this Court, as well as to decisions in the Appellate Division 

itself.  Moreover, even if § 63(12) did authorize its own standalone fraud claim 

separate and apart from a common law fraud claim (and it does not), such a 

standalone claim would be subject to the CPLR § 214(2) three-year limitations 

period because it would necessarily be a claim created by statute.  Indeed, the 

Appellate Division (and the AG) cannot have it both ways.  It cannot be the case 

that, as the Appellate Division held, the AG may assert a § 63(12) fraud claim for 

which he need not plead and prove all of the common law fraud elements, 

including scienter and reliance, and yet also have the benefit of the six-year 

common law fraud limitations period, rather than the three-year period for claims 

created by statute.  Conversely, if the AG is to have the benefit of a six-year 

limitations period, then, as the Supreme Court held, he must plead and prove all of 

the elements of a common law fraud claim, which he had the opportunity but 

declined to do. 

In holding that § 63(12) creates a standalone claim, the Appellate Division 

failed to follow this Court’s controlling decision in State of New York v Cortelle, 
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38 NY2d 83 [1975], on the purported ground that Cortelle merely addressed the 

applicability of CPLR § 214(2)’s statute of limitations to § 63(12) claims and did 

not hold that § 63(12) does not create a standalone cause of action.  That is not so.  

To the contrary, the very basis for this Court’s holding in Cortelle that a § 63(12) 

claim is not subject to the three-year CPLR § 214(2) period was that § 63(12) does 

not create a standalone claim.  As the Court stated, § 63(12) itself does not make 

“unlawful the alleged fraudulent practices, but only provide[s] standing in the 

Attorney-General to seek redress and additional remedies for recognized wrongs 

which pre-existed the statutes.”  Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 85.  The Appellate Division 

also failed to follow its own decision in People v Charles Schwab & Co., Inc., 109 

AD3d 445, 449 [1st Dept 2013].  In Schwab, as here, the AG asserted an 

independent § 63(12) claim untethered to any underlying claim or violation.  

Schwab, 109 AD3d at 449.  The Appellate Division, citing Cortelle, affirmed the 

dismissal of the § 63(12) claim “inasmuch as Executive Law § 63(12), upon which 

it is based, does not create independent claims, but merely authorizes the Attorney 

General to seek injunctive and other relief.”  Id.  

In any event, even assuming arguendo that § 63(12) did create a standalone 

cause of action (and it did not), such a cause of action would necessarily be a 

statutorily-created fraud claim and therefore subject to the three-year CPLR 

§ 214(2) statute of limitations.  Indeed, in erroneously holding that the AG’s fraud-
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like claim under § 63(12), which it concluded does not require proof of scienter or 

reliance, is subject to the six-year statute of limitations, the Appellate Division 

again failed to follow this Court’s controlling authority in Gaidon v Guardian Life 

Ins. Co. of Am., 96 NY2d 201, 209 [2001] (“Gaidon II”) and Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 

86-87.  In Gaidon II, this Court, citing Cortelle, held that CPLR § 214(2) “does not 

automatically apply to all causes of action in which a statutory remedy is sought, 

but only where liability ‘would not exist but for a statute’ . . .  Thus, CPLR § 214 

(2) ‘does not apply to liabilities existing at common law which have been 

recognized or implemented by statute.’”  Gaidon II at 208.  The Gaidon II court 

found that because the General Business Law (“GBL”) § 349 claim at issue there 

covered conduct “akin” to but – as here – “critically different” from common law 

fraud, the claim was subject to the three-year CPLR § 214(2) statute of limitations.  

Id. at 209-10.  The Appellate Division also ignored its own decision in State of 

New York v Daicel Chem. Indus., Ltd., 42 AD3d 301 [1st Dept 2007], which found 

that because the “claims rely on allegations of conduct made illegal by statute, and 

do not even allege all elements of common law fraud,” CPLR § 214(2)’s three-year 

limitations period applied to § 63(12) and GBL § 349 claims.  42 AD3d at 303 

(emphasis added). 

The Appellate Division also erred in summarily affirming the Supreme 

Court’s decision striking seven of the Trump Appellants’ affirmative defenses.  
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Inasmuch as the AG utterly failed to meet his high burden of showing that the 

defenses are without merit as a matter of law, all seven affirmative defenses must 

be reinstated. 

Likewise, the Appellate Division abused its discretion in affirming the 

Supreme Court’s decision denying Appellants’ motion to convert this special 

proceeding into a plenary action.  While the purpose of a special proceeding (with 

no automatic discovery) is to provide the AG with expedited relief to enjoin 

ongoing activities, that purpose is plainly not served here where the AG waited 

more than three years after TEI ceased operations to commence the proceeding. 

Finally, the Appellate Division abused its discretion in affirming limitations 

on Appellants’ discovery, including denying any paper discovery and denying 

Appellants discovery of communications between the AG and TEI’s former 

students during the AG’s investigation on the basis that such communications were 

protected as work product.  Appellants have more than readily shown that special 

circumstances and ample need exist – including the need for disclosure of the basis 

for the AG’s claims for tens of millions of dollars in purported damages – to allow 

discovery and prevent a trial by ambush. 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Does Executive Law § 63(12) create a standalone fraud cause of 

action? 
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The Appellate Division incorrectly answered this question in the affirmative. 

2. Does the six-year statute of limitations applicable to common law 

fraud under CPLR § 213(1) govern the AG’s § 63(12) claim, even though the AG 

has not alleged all of the elements of common law fraud, such as scienter and 

reliance? 

The Appellate Division incorrectly answered this question in the affirmative. 

3. Can a claim under § 63(12) be established without proof of scienter 

and reliance even though such claim seeks the benefit of a six-year statute of 

limitations applicable to common law fraud under CPLR § 213(1)? 

The Appellate Division incorrectly answered this question in the affirmative. 

4. Did the Appellate Division incorrectly affirm the Supreme Court’s 

dismissal of the Trump Appellants’ seven well-pleaded affirmative defenses?  

The Appellate Division incorrectly affirmed the Supreme Court’s dismissal 

of the Trump Appellants’ seven well-pleaded affirmative defenses. 

5. Did the Appellate Division abuse its discretion by affirming the 

Supreme Court’s decision denying Appellants’ motion to convert the special 

proceeding into a plenary action?  

The Appellate Division abused its discretion by affirming the Supreme 

Court’s decision. 
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6. Did the Appellate Division abuse its discretion by affirming the 

Supreme Court’s decision to limit discovery?  

The Appellate Division abused its discretion by affirming the Supreme 

Court’s decision. 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

On May 17, 2016, the Appellate Division granted Appellants’ motion for 

leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals from the Decision.  (A. 592.)2   

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. The Creation And Operation Of TEI 

In 2004, Appellant Michael Sexton approached Appellant Donald Trump 

about developing a company that would primarily use technology to provide an 

instructional curriculum across a broad range of business subjects, such as 

marketing, finance, entrepreneurship and real estate, under the “Trump” name and 

brand.  (A. 356.)  

On October 25, 2004, TEI, a New York limited liability company, was 

formed with the New York Department of State, Division of Corporations 

(“Division”), with the stated purpose of providing “education-related and 

                                                 
2  Citations to the record on appeal are to “A. __” and citations to the addendum are to “Add. 

__.”  
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educational products and services to individuals and businesses.”  The Division 

approved the filing using the word “University” without objection.  (A. 356.) 

From 2004 to 2010, TEI was a small, private company which offered quality 

instruction and training.  At no time did TEI hold itself out as having been 

approved by the State of New York, licensed by the New York State Education 

Department (“SED”), accredited by the Board of Regents, or approved to issue 

diplomas.  TEI explicitly stated in the “frequently-asked-questions” section of its 

website that “Trump University does not offer credits or degrees.”  (A. 356-57, A. 

715, A. 722.)   

TEI also did not promise specific results, profits, or wealth to its customers.  

Indeed, in addition to other disclosures that were provided, TEI’s customers signed 

an enrollment form and a terms and conditions document, both of which contained 

disclaimers.  (A. 546-47, A. 572, A. 732-39, A. 755-56, A. 783-800.)  These 

documents contain specific disclaimers in size eight or larger point font.  (A. 573, 

A. 783, A. 786, A. 788, A. 790.)   

The enrollment form signed by the customers stated:  (a) “[t]his Program is 

provided for information only;” (b) “no guarantees, promises, representations or 

warranties of any kind regarding specific or general benefits, monetary or 

otherwise, have been or will be made”; and (c) TEI is not responsible for the 

customers’ “business success or failure.”  (A. 357, A. 755, A. 783.) 
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The terms and conditions document also signed by the customers made clear 

that “TEI has not made any express or implied representation[s] or assurance[s] 

regarding the potential profitability, chances of funding or likelihood of success of 

any transaction, investment, opportunity or strategy,” that TEI is not “rendering 

legal or financial advice,” and that it is the students’ “sole responsibility to seek 

independent advice from professionals such as Real Estate Agents and Brokers, 

Lawyers, Accountants and Mortgage Brokers.”  (A. 572, A. 755-56, A. 785.)  The 

Student Guide also made clear that the students had control over, and were 

responsible for, their success.  (A. 670.) 

On May 27, 2005, TEI received a letter from the SED concerning TEI’s then 

use of the word “University” in its name, “Trump University LLC” (A. 357), 

which the Division had previously accepted.  (A. 356.)  TEI’s then president, Mr. 

Sexton, had discussions with the SED as to how TEI could continue using the word 

“University.”  After implementing many of the SED’s requested changes, TEI 

notified the SED about its efforts to comply.  The SED, however, never responded, 

and TEI continued its operations, as modified.  (A. 357.) 

Over the next five years, TEI provided quality programs by experienced 

professionals in a variety of business subjects (including real estate investment). 

(A. 358.)  Throughout this period, the response from customers was 

overwhelmingly positive.  Approximately 98% of the more than 10,000 voluntary 
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student surveys collected during this period rated the TEI programs a “4” or “5” on 

a scale of 1 to 5 (with 5 being the highest).  The high level of satisfaction was 

supported by testimonials, which were remarkable given an economic cycle that 

would become the worst financial/real estate crisis since the Great Depression.  (A. 

201, A. 358, A. 447, A. 753.) 

During its operation, TEI had guidelines and procedures in place that 

ensured the instructors were properly trained, expected to comply with all TEI 

directives, policies and procedures, and prohibited from making false claims 

concerning the program.  (A. 377-80, A. 618, A. 666-67.)  For example, the Trump 

University Rules of Engagement set forth specific rules for instructors, including a 

specific prohibition against “directly or indirectly advising any client/customer of 

any likelihood of success.”  (A. 378.)  In addition, all programs were recorded for 

compliance purposes with outside counsel reviewing the transcripts, and any issues 

identified being addressed with the instructors.  (A. 235, A. 280, A. 377, A. 384, A. 

711-13.)  Starting in 2007, TEI also had annual compliance training meetings with 

its live-event teams to review the company’s rules and policies.  (A. 282.) 

On March 30, 2010, the SED, in response to a single student complaint, sent 

a letter to TEI demanding that TEI cease using the word “University” in its name 

“Trump University LLC.”  After discussions with the SED, on May 21, 2010, TEI 

filed a certificate of amendment to its Articles of Organization formally changing 
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its name from “Trump University LLC” to “Trump Entrepreneur Initiative LLC.”  

Shortly thereafter, TEI stopped accepting new students – effectively ceasing its 

operations.  (A. 358-59.)  The Trump Appellants even offered to stipulate with the 

AG that TEI would not renew the business while the action was pending.  (A. 443, 

A. 578, A. 829.)   

B. The AG’s Broad Sweeping Investigation  

In early 2011, shortly after assuming office, the AG commenced an 

investigation into for-profit universities and trade schools, with particular focus on 

institutions which had received state or federal funding, aid or subsidies.  (A. 359.)  

Even though neither TEI nor its students had ever received any public 

funding, on or about May 17, 2011, the AG issued a subpoena duces tecum 

(“Subpoena”) to TEI seeking documents and information pertaining to its business.  

Within literally minutes of receiving the Subpoena, TEI’s representatives received 

a call from The New York Times requesting comment.  (Id.)  The press had already 

been given a copy of the Subpoena.  (Id.)   

Over the next two years, Appellants fully cooperated with the AG’s 

investigation, turning over hundreds of thousands of pages of documents and 

making TEI’s former President, Controller, and others available for depositions, 

demonstrating that TEI had provided quality instructional services with which 

customers were overwhelmingly satisfied.  In fact, the AG himself made numerous 
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statements regarding the lack of viability of the claims against TEI, including that 

his office’s investigation into TEI was “very weak” and “going absolutely 

nowhere.”  (A. 189, A. 195, A. 198, A. 764, A. 772, A. 779.) 

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

A. The AG’s Petition 

On August 24, 2013, more than three years after TEI effectively ceased 

operations, the AG filed a petition (“Petition”), accompanied by a nationwide 

media campaign.  The Petition alleged six causes of action entitled as follows:  (i) 

First Cause of Action, Violations of Executive Law § 63(12) Fraud; (ii) Second 

Cause of Action, Violations of Executive Law § 63(12) and General Business Law 

§ 349; (iii) Third Cause of Action, Violations of Executive Law § 63(12) and 

General Business Law § 350; (iv) Fourth Cause of Action, Violations of Executive 

Law § 63(12) and Education Law § 224; (v) Fifth Cause of Action, Violations of 

Executive Law § 63(12), Education Law Article 101, § § 5001-5010, and Part 126 

of Title 8 of the New York Codes, Rules, and Regulations; and (vi) Sixth Cause of 

Action, Violations of Executive Law § 63(12) and 16 C.F.R. § 429.  (A. 99-104.)  

The Petition seeks Appellants’ profits totaling tens of millions of dollars of 

damages.  (A. 69, A. 116, A. 444.)  

The specific allegations contained in each cause of action reinforce the 

statutory nature of the AG’s claims.  The first cause of action is pleaded as a 
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standalone, fraud-based statutory claim not tethered to any other common law or 

statutory violations.  (A. 99-100.)  Conversely, all of the AG’s remaining claims 

(second through sixth causes of action) coupled claims under § 63(12) with other 

statutory violations.  (A. 100-04.)   

B. The Supreme Court’s January 31, 2014 Decision (“Kern I”) 

In a pre-answer cross-motion dated October 31, 2013, Appellants cross-

moved to dismiss or limit the claims in the Petition based upon the statute of 

limitations.  (A. 186-87.)  Appellants argued that because the six causes of action 

were subject to the three-year statute of limitations pursuant to CPLR § 214(2), any 

claims which accrued prior to May 31, 2010 were time barred.  (A. 191-92, A. 

205.)   

Indeed, in support of the Petition, the AG submitted 28 advertisements by 

TEI.  Notably, 27 of the advertisements expressly relate to events that occurred 

prior to May 31, 2010, and the one remaining advertisement is silent as to the date.  

Not a single advertisement relates to an event that occurred after May 31, 2010.  

(A. 366.)   

In its January 31, 2014, Kern I decision, the Supreme Court ordered that the 

AG was bound by a three-year statute of limitations on all of the statutory claims in 

the Petition (second, third, fifth, and sixth causes of action), dismissed the entirety 

of the fourth cause of action regarding the alleged Education Law § 224 violation 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000059&cite=NYCPS214&originatingDoc=I8642b190107311e6a795ac035416da91&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.RelatedInfo)
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(Kern I at 1-13 (A. 9-21)), and precluded the AG from proceeding on any facts that 

occurred prior to May 31, 2010 with respect to those causes of action.  (Kern I at 7-

10 (A. 15-18).)   

Kern I also held that the § 63(12) claim could not proceed as a standalone 

cause of action.  However, rather than dismiss this cause of action, the Supreme 

Court sua sponte converted it to a common law fraud claim and invited the AG to 

amend the Petition to allege common law fraud as the underlying violation for the 

§ 63(12) claim.  The Supreme Court correctly held that all the elements of common 

law fraud must be alleged.  (Kern II at 10 (A. 38).)  Despite being given an 

opportunity to amend its Petition to include common law fraud allegations, the AG 

refused to do so.  (Id.) 

C. The Supreme Court’s October 8, 2014 Decision (“Kern II”) 

On February 21, 2014, the Trump Appellants answered the Petition and 

asserted 17 affirmative defenses and a counterclaim.  (A. 340-410.)  On March 5, 

2014, the Trump Appellants moved:  (a) to convert the proceeding to a plenary 

action due to no exigency warranting summary procedures; and/or (b) for leave to 

conduct discovery.  (A. 434-35.)  Appellant Michael Sexton joined in the Trump 

Appellants’ March 5, 2014 motion.  (A. 452-53.)  The AG cross-moved to dismiss 

the Trump Appellants’ affirmative defenses and for a summary determination on 

all remaining causes of action in the Petition.  (A. 477-79, A. 538-39.) 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000078&cite=NYEXS63&originatingDoc=I8642b190107311e6a795ac035416da91&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.RelatedInfo)
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In its October 8, 2014 Kern II decision, the Supreme Court dismissed the 

first cause of action, holding that the AG could not maintain a standalone cause of 

action under § 63(12), and that the AG failed to allege all the elements of a 

common law fraud, including scienter and reasonable reliance.  (Kern II at 8-12 

(A. 36-40).)  The Supreme Court also denied the AG’s request for summary 

determination on all of its claims except for the fifth cause of action alleging 

violations of Educ. L. Art. 101 (§§ 5001-5010).  (Kern II at 35 (A. 63).) 

Further, Kern II dismissed the following affirmative defenses of the Trump 

Appellants:  (i) third affirmative defense (failure to establish a pattern and practice 

of deceptive and/or fraudulent conduct) (A. 401); (ii) fifth affirmative defense 

(failure to allege facts as of May 31, 2010 to establish either common law or 

statutory fraud) (id.); (iii) sixth affirmative defense (failure to allege facts as of 

May 31, 2010 to establish violation of GBL §§ 349, 350) (id.); (iv) eleventh 

affirmative defense (alleged acts and conduct were isolated and limited and do not 

establish a pattern and practice or an intention to mislead or misrepresent) (A. 

402); (v) fourteenth affirmative defense (claims are barred by the enrollment forms 

executed by the participants) (id.); (vi) fifteenth affirmative defense (claims are 

barred by the participant surveys and video testimonials) (id.); and (vii) sixteenth 

affirmative defense (“the lack of success or claims of fraud is belatedly made due 

to participants’ failure to put in proper effort and comply with workbooks, 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000078&cite=NYEXS63&originatingDoc=I8642b190107311e6a795ac035416da91&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.RelatedInfo)
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homework and/or market conditions”) (A. 403).  (Kern II at 27-28 (A. 55-56).)  It 

also dismissed the fourteenth affirmative defense (claims are barred by the 

enrollment forms executed by participants) on the basis that the disclaimers in the 

enrollment forms failed to provide a defense to the fraud claims. (Kern II at 28-30 

(A. 56-58).) 

Kern II also limited Appellants’ discovery to depositions on the common 

law fraud claim, and denied document discovery and depositions on the remaining 

statutory claims.  (Kern II at 33-35 (A. 61-63).)  The Supreme Court also denied 

the Trump Appellants’ request for communications between the AG and TEI’s 

individual students on the ground that they were protected as work product.  (Kern 

II at 35 (A. 63).)  

D. The AG’s Appeal Of The Kern I And Kern II Decisions 

The AG appealed Kern I and Kern II.  On February 19, 2015, the Supreme 

Court granted the AG’s motion to consolidate the appeals.  (A. 831.) 

On March 1, 2016, the Appellate Division issued the Decision by which it:  

(i) reinstated the AG’s first cause of action under § 63(12) finding it to be a 

standalone action; (ii) held that a fraud claim under § 63(12) did not require a 

showing of scienter or reliance; (iii) held that the fraud claim under § 63(12) is 

subject to a six-year statute of limitations under CPLR § 213(1); (iv) affirmed the 

Supreme Court’s dismissal of seven of the Trump Appellants’ affirmative 
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defenses; (v) affirmed the Supreme Court’s decision to limit discovery; and (vi) 

affirmed the Supreme Court’s denial of Appellants’ motion to convert the special 

proceeding into a plenary action.  (Decision at 35-40 (A. 611-16).)   

On March 21, 2016, Appellants filed a motion for leave to appeal the 

Decision pursuant to CPLR § 5602(b)(1), which, on May 17, 2016, the Appellate 

Division granted.  (A. 592.)  On August 18, 2016, the Appellate Division issued a 

corrected order granting the Motion (A. 593-96), and the Appellants filed a Notice 

of Entry accordingly.  (A. 597.)   

ARGUMENT 

I. THE APPELLATE DIVISION ERRED IN HOLDING THAT 

§ 63(12) CREATES A STANDALONE CAUSE OF ACTION 

The Appellate Division erred in holding that § 63(12) allows for the AG to 

bring a standalone claim – a holding contrary to this Court’s binding decision in 

Cortelle.  (Decision at 35-38 (A. 611-14).)  The Appellate Division claimed that 

this Court in Cortelle did not hold that § 63(12) does not create a standalone cause 

of action because Cortelle merely addressed the applicability of CPLR § 214(2)’s 

statute of limitations to a § 63(12) claim.  (Decision at 35 (A. 611).)  However, as 

discussed below, Cortelle specifically and necessarily interpreted § 63(12) in 

reaching its decision, and that decision therefore is controlling authority as to the 

proper interpretation of § 63(12). 
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A. The Appellate Division Failed To Follow Controlling Precedent 

That Recognizes § 63(12) Does Not Create A Standalone Cause 

Of Action  

In Cortelle, this Court held that § 63(12) does not create a standalone claim.  

Section 63(12) states in relevant part: 

Whenever any person shall engage in repeated fraudulent or illegal acts 

or otherwise demonstrate persistent fraud or illegality in the carrying 

on, conducting or transaction of business, the attorney-general may 

apply … for an order enjoining the continuance of such business 

activity or of any fraudulent or illegal acts, directing restitution …. 

Exec. Law § 63(12). 

In Cortelle, the Attorney General brought an action asserting, among others, 

a claim under § 63(12), to enjoin allegedly fraudulent practices and to obtain 

redress for the defrauded persons.  Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 86.  The Cortelle court 

addressed whether the § 63(12) claim sought to recover upon, in the words of 

CPLR § 214(2), a “liability, penalty or forfeiture created or imposed by statute” 

and therefore was subject to the three-year statute of limitations under CPLR 

§ 214(2).  Id.  Cortelle recognized that § 63(12) itself does not make “unlawful the 

alleged fraudulent practices, but only provide[s] standing in the Attorney-General 

to seek redress and additional remedies for recognized wrongs which pre-existed 

the statutes,” Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 85, and that “[s]tatutory provisions which 

provide only additional remedies or standing do not create or impose new 
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obligations.”  Id.  Accordingly, the court held § 63(12) did not create a standalone 

claim subject to CPLR § 214(2)’s three-year statute of limitations. 

Instead, Cortelle held that since defendants’ alleged actions “were wrongful 

prior to and independent of [§ 63(12)],” and amounted to “a classic wrong on a 

common-law theory of promissory fraud,” the § 63(12) claim was tethered to a 

common law fraud claim and therefore subject to the six-year common law fraud 

statute of limitations.  Id. at 87.   

In sum, contrary to the Appellate Division’s attempt to distinguish Cortelle 

(Decision at 33-34 (A. 609-10)), the Cortelle Court expressly recognized that it 

was essential that it determine whether § 63(12) created standalone claims in order 

to rule on whether CPLR § 214(2) applied to the § 63(12) claim. 

As numerous court have recognized, Cortelle’s holding that § 63(12) does 

not provide for a standalone cause of action is binding authority.  See e.g. People v 

Frink Am., Inc., 2 AD3d 1379, 1380 [4th Dept 2003]; People v Orbital Publ. Grp., 

Inc., 21 NYS3d 573, 579 [Sup Ct, NY County 2015]; People v Barclays Capital 

Inc., 1 NYS3d 910, 917 [Sup Ct, NY County 2015]; see also Pauk v Bd. of 

Trustees of City Univ. of New York, 654 F2d 856, 861 [2d Cir 1981]; City of New 

York v Fedex Ground Package Sys., Inc., 314 FRD 348, 362 [SDNY 2016]. 

Indeed, in a previous decision, the Appellate Division itself followed 

Cortelle in explicitly holding that § 63(12) does not create a standalone cause of 
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action.  See Schwab, 109 AD3d at 449.  Nevertheless, the Appellate Division in its 

Decision below outright rejected its earlier holding in Schwab, on the ground that 

Schwab incorrectly followed Cortelle as Cortelle did not hold that § 63(12) could 

not be a standalone claim.  (Decision at 32 (A. 608).)  As shown, that is contrary to 

Cortelle.  The Decision below was also flatly wrong in claiming that the parties in 

Schwab never raised the standalone issue on appeal.3  (Decision at 32 (A. 608).)   

Under Cortelle, therefore, and as the Supreme Court correctly held, because 

the AG’s first cause of action under § 63(12) here is not tethered to any statutory or 

common law violation (the AG having declined to amend to assert common law 

fraud) and § 63(12) forecloses a standalone claim, the Decision must be reversed 

and the § 63(12) claim must be dismissed.  Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 85-86.  

It is telling that the Appellate Division, rather than following itself, cited 

cases that ignore Cortelle and/or do not expressly address whether § 63(12) creates 

a standalone cause of action.4  (Decision at 35-37 (A. 611-13).)   

                                                 
3  The record in Schwab shows that the AG did raise the standalone issue in its motion to reargue.  

See the AG’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Reargue, People v Charles Schwab 

& Co., Inc. (Add. 54-72); Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Reargue. (Add. 

73-88.)  The Schwab Court denied the reargument motion and adhered to its holding that 

§ 63(12) does not create a standalone claim.  People v Charles Schwab & Co., Inc., 2013 NY 

Slip Op 95413[U] [1st Dept 2013]. 
4  See People ex rel. Cuomo v Coventry First LLC, 52 AD3d 345, 346 [1st Dept 2008] (finding 

§ 63(12) claim does not need to allege all elements of fraud without addressing Cortelle), affd 13 

NY3d 108 [2009]; People ex rel. Cuomo v Wells Fargo Ins. Servs., Inc., 62 AD3d 404, 405 [1st 

Dept 2009] (dismissing a claim under § 63(12) because the alleged conduct was not illegal 

within the meaning of the statute and failing to address Cortelle), affd 16 NY3d 166 [2011]; 

State v Grecco, 21 AD3d 470, 478 [2d Dept 2005] (dismissing a claim under § 63(12) for failing 

to allege conduct that is illegal under the statute and failing to address Cortelle); People v Apple 
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The Appellate Division also incorrectly claimed that People ex rel. Cuomo v 

Greenberg, 21 NY3d 439 [2013] allowed a standalone cause of action under 

§ 63(12).  (Decision at 35 (A. 611).)  That case is entirely inapposite.  Critically, in 

Greenberg, this Court did not and had no reason to determine the standalone cause 

of action issue because the AG there – unlike here, where the AG declined to 

amend – pleaded common law fraud as the underlying § 63(12) violation.  See 

Greenberg, 21 NY3d at 446.   

B. The Appellate Division Incorrectly Equated The Martin Act 

With § 63(12) In Finding § 63(12) Allows For A Standalone Claim 

The Appellate Division incorrectly concluded that the AG has authority to 

bring a standalone § 63(12) claim because the language of § 63(12) parallels the 

language of the Martin Act, which allows the AG to bring a standalone securities 

fraud claim, because both statutes define the fraudulent conduct that is prohibited, 

authorize the AG to commence an action, and specify the relief that can be sought.  

(Decision at 37-38 (A. 613-14).)  This is wrong for several reasons.   

First, the legislative history of § 63(12) directly contradicts this 

interpretation.  Section 63(12) was explicitly premised upon what was then New 

                                                 

Health Sports Clubs, Ltd., 206 AD2d 266, 267 [1st Dept 1994] (finding individual liable for 

fraudulent and illegal conduct within the scope of §63(12) and failing to address Cortelle), lv 

dismissed in part and denied in part 84 NY2d 1004 [1994]; People v JAG NY, LLC, 18 AD3d 

950, 951-52 [3d Dept 2005] (finding violations under various statutes including § 63(12) and 

failing to address Cortelle).   
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York General Corporation Law (“GCL”) Article 8,5 which did not create a new 

cause of action or rule of liability.6  Mem. to the Governor, reprinted in Bill Jacket 

for Ch. 592 [1956], at 4.  (Add. 5.)  According to the drafters, § 63(12) was 

intended to expand the scope of GCL to allow for actions against unincorporated 

entities.  State Dept of Law Mem., Ch 592, L 1956, reprinted in NY State Legis 

Ann 92-94 [1956].  (Add. 24-26.)  Because § 63(12) was intended to model GCL, 

it was clearly intended to be a procedural statute that provided standing and 

remedies in the AG to enforce existing claims, but did not create a standalone 

cause of action.  

Second, while the Martin Act had a broad definition of fraud when enacted 

in 1921, § 63(12), conversely, did not have any definition for the word “fraud” 

when originally enacted in 1956.  See McKinney’s 1956 Session Laws of New 

York § 63(12) [Executive Law § 63(12), as added L 1956 ch 592 § 1]; see also 

Application of People by Lefkowitz, 24 Misc 2d 83, 83-84 [Sup Ct, NY County 

                                                 

5  NY Gen Corp Law §§ 90-92 (incorporated into and replaced by Business Corporation Law 

§ 1101 (McKinney)). 

6  Section 91 of the former General Corporation Law “does not establish or pretend to establish 

any rule of liability, but simply to fix and enumerate the classes of cases in which, if liability 

does exist, the attorney-general may move, having first obtained the assent of the court. That 

section relates, therefore, merely to procedure, and does not determine, much less enlarge, 

existing rules of corporate liability.”  People v Atl. Ave. R.R. Co., 125 NY 513, 516-17 [1891].  

See also Manix v Fantl, 209 AD 756, 759 [1st Dept 1924] (“The statute does not create a new 

cause of action.  It qualifies and grants permission to certain officers to enforce an existing 

one.”); Bailey v Colleen Prods. Corp., 120 Misc 297, 299 [Sup Ct, St Lawrence County 1923]. 
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1960] (quoting § 63(12) as it appeared in 1960).  Although § 63(12) was 

subsequently amended in 1965 to add such a definition, the legislature made clear 

that the amendment was intended to equate § 63(12)’s definition not just with the 

Martin Act but with UCC § 2-302, which does not create a standalone claim.7  See 

Amended L 2014, ch 55, § 3; Mem. to the Governor [June 30, 1965], reprinted in 

Bill Jacket for Ch. 666 [1965], at 3 (Add. 19) (stating that definition was meant “to 

equate § 63 with the provisions of Uniform Commercial Code, § 2-302, which 

permits Courts for the first time expressly to refuse to enforce an unconscionable 

contract or clause”).  Thus, the fact that § 63(12) parallels the Martin Act is not 

dispositive of the fact that § 63(12) is a standalone claim because § 63(12) also 

parallels UCC § 2-302, which is not a standalone claim.   

Finally, as demonstrated below, even if § 63(12) creates a standalone cause 

of action (and it does not), it would necessarily be a statutory fraud claim subject to 

the three-year statute of limitations pursuant to CPLR § 214(2).  

II. THE APPELLATE DIVISION ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT THE 

SIX-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS UNDER CPLR § 213(1) 

GOVERNS THE AG’S § 63(12) CLAIM 

The Appellate Division erroneously held that the AG’s fraud-like claim 

under § 63(12) – which it concluded did not require proof of scienter or reliance – 

                                                 
7  See Pearson v Natl. Budgeting Sys., Inc., 31 AD2d 792, 792-93 [1st Dept 1969] (“Section        

2-302 of the Uniform Commercial Code does not provide any damages to a party who enters into 

an unconscionable contract.  This section gives the court the power to refuse to enforce such an 

unconscionable contract. . .”) 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1969126384&pubNum=0000602&originatingDoc=I500726b3557911d9a99c85a9e6023ffa&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_602_60&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_602_60
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“is not subject to the three-year statute of limitations imposed by CPLR § 214(2), 

but rather is subject to the residual six-year statute of limitations in CPLR § 

213(1).”  (Decision at 38 (A. 614).)  The Appellate Division concluded that the 

three-year statute of limitations under CPLR § 214(2), which applies to “an action 

to recover upon liability, penalty or forfeiture created or imposed by statute,” does 

not apply to the AG’s § 63(12) claim because it “does not create any liability 

nonexistent at common law, at least under the Court’s equitable powers,” and 

“does not encompass a significantly wider range of fraudulent activities than were 

legally cognizable before the section’s enactment.”  (Decision at 39 (A. 615).) 

A. The Appellate Division Failed To Follow Controlling Authority 

When It Held The Six-Year Statute Of Limitations Governs The 

§ 63(12) Claim 

In reaching its decision, the Appellate Division, however, erroneously failed 

to follow this Court’s controlling decision in Gaidon II.8  In Gaidon II, the AG 

brought an action against the defendant under GBL § 349(h) for allegedly 

                                                 
8  The Appellate Division cited to Gaidon II with the Bluebook signal “cf,” (Decision at 39 (A. 

615)), which is used for authority that “is different from the main proposition but sufficiently 

analogous to lend support.”  See THE BLUEBOOK:  A UNIFORM SYSTEM OF CITATION (Columbia 

Law Review Assn. et al. eds., 19th ed. 2010 at p. 5).  However, Gaidon II is not “sufficiently 

analogous” to the Appellate Division’s decision but is directly contrary to it.  The Appellate 

Division’s attempt to circumvent Gaidon II stands in stark contrast to other courts that have 

followed Gaidon II when determining which statute of limitations period governs a § 63(12) 

claim.  See United States ex rel. Bilotta v Novartis Pharm. Corp., 50 F Supp 3d 497, 550-51 

[SDNY 2014]; People ex rel. Spitzer v Pharmacia Corp., 27 Misc 3d 368, 372-73 [Sup Ct, 

Albany County 2010]; People ex rel. Cuomo v City Model & Talent Dev., Inc., 29 Misc 3d 

1205[A], 2010 NY Slip Op 51704[U], *3 [Sup Ct, Suffolk County 2010]; Cuomo v Empire Prop. 

Solutions, LLC, 2011 NY Slip Op 33040[U], *16-17 [Sup Ct, Nassau County 2011].  
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engaging in deceptive marketing and sales practices in promoting the sale of 

certain life insurance policies.  Gaidon II, 96 NY2d at 206.  Gaidon II addressed 

whether the CPLR § 214(2) three-year statute of limitations rather than the CPLR 

§ 213(1) six-year limitations period applied. 

The Gaidon II court explained the circumstances in which CPLR § 214(2) 

applies to statutory claims: 

CPLR 214(2) does not automatically apply to all causes of action in 

which a statutory remedy is sought, but only where liability ‘would not 

exist but for a statute’ (Aetna Life & Cas. Co. v Nelson, 67 N.Y.2d 169, 

174).  Thus, CPLR 214(2) ‘does not apply to liabilities existing at 

common law which have been recognized or implemented by statute’ 

(id.).  When this is the case, the Statute of Limitations for the statutory 

claim is that for the common-law cause of action which the statute 

codified or implemented (see State of New York v Cortelle Corp, 38 

N.Y.2d 83, 86-87).    

96 NY2d at 208.   

Applying this framework and relying upon its earlier decision in Gaidon v 

Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am., 94 NY2d 330 [1999] (“Gaidon I”), the Gaidon II 

court found that the GBL § 349 claim covered conduct “akin” to but “critically 

different” from common law fraud and therefore was subject to the three-year 

statute of limitations under CPLR § 214(2):  

The substantive differences between the claims under General Business 

Law § 349 here and common-law fraud were most pointedly 

demonstrated by our disposition of those respective causes of action in 

Gaidon I.  There, we held that, because of the disclaimers in the 

promotional illustrations Guardian Life used in selling its vanishing 

premium policies, the misrepresentations in those materials and by 
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sales agents did not rise to the level necessary to establish a common-

law fraud claim.  Yet we also held that the disclaimers were not 

sufficient to dispel the deceptiveness of Guardian Life’s sales practices 

with respect to the same illustrations for purposes of alleging  violation 

of General Business Law § 349.  Thus, despite plaintiffs’ and the 

Attorney General’s contentions to the contrary, it is not merely the 

absence of scienter that distinguishes a violation of section 349 from 

common-law fraud; section 349 encompasses a significantly wider 

range of deceptive business practices that were never previously 

condemned by decisional law. 

96 NY2d at 209-10 (emphasis added). 

As Gaidon II involves the interpretation of CPLR § 214(2), its holding does 

not apply just to GBL § 349 claims but to other statutory claims as well.  Indeed, 

Gaidon II relied upon this Court’s decisions applying CPLR § 214(2) to other 

statutory claims, such as Insurance Law §§ 5105 and 5221(b)(6).9   

Gaidon II is entirely consistent with this Court’s earlier decision in Cortelle, 

38 NY2d 83 [1975], which held that the CPLR § 213(1) six-year fraud statute of 

limitations applied to the AG’s § 63(12) claim because the AG had alleged all 

elements of the pre-existing “common-law theory of promissory fraud,” 

independent of § 63(12).10  Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 86.  Promissory fraud, which pre-

                                                 

9  Aetna Life & Cas. Co. v Nelson, 67 NY2d 169 [1986] (finding CPLR § 214(2) applies to 

Insurance Law §§ 5105 and 5221(b)(6) and explaining “we have consistently held that the 

statute, like its predecessor, only governs liabilities which would not exist but for a statute”); 

Motor Vehicle Acc. Indemnification Corp. v Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 89 NY2d 214 [1996] 

(finding CPLR § 214(2) applies to Insurance Law §§ 5105, 5104(b) and 5221(b)(6) even though 

plaintiff stepped into the shoes of insurer).   

10  The Appellate Division’s decision is also directly at odds with its own decision in State of 

New York v Daicel Chemical Industries, Ltd., 42 AD3d 301 [1st Dept 2007], which found, based 

upon Gaidon II, that CPLR § 214(2)’s three-year limitations period applies to the claims at issue 
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existed § 63(12), requires proof of both intent and reliance at common law.  See 

also Farrell v LGS Realty Partners LLC, 2011 NY Slip Op 32274[U], *1 [Sup Ct, 

NY County 2011] (applying CPLR § 213(1)’s six-year statute of limitations to an 

equitable fraud which pre-existed § 63(12)).   

Here, inasmuch as the AG declined to amend his petition, the only 

conceivable § 63(12) claim is one that, as the Appellate Division held, does not 

require proof of scienter and reliance.  That claim therefore asserts a new liability 

created by statute, rather than asserting a pre-existing common law fraud claim.  

The Appellate Division therefore erred in failing to apply the CPLR § 214(2) three-

year statute of limitations.  In other words, the AG is seeking relief under the 

broader definition of fraud under § 63(12) – the invocation of which “create[s] a 

new liability.”  See Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 87.   

B. The Appellate Division Improperly Relied Upon Inapposite 

Lower Court Decisions In Rendering Its Erroneous Decision 

The Appellate Division improperly relied upon two inapposite lower court 

decisions that pre-date Gaidon II – Morelli v Weider Nutrition Group, Inc., 275 

AD2d 607 [1st Dept 2000] and State v Bronxville Glen I Assoc., 181 AD2d 516 

[1st Dept 1992] – when it incorrectly held that the six-year statute of limitations 

governs the AG’s § 63(12) claim.  (Decision at 38-39 (A. 614-15).) 

                                                 

under § 63(12) and GBL § 349, because the “claims rely on allegations of conduct made illegal 

by statute, and do not even allege all elements of common law fraud.”  Id. at 303 (emphasis 

added).   
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Morelli – which involved whether GBL §§ 349 and 350 claims, as opposed 

to a § 63(12) claim, were time-barred by the three-year limitations period – is 

unavailing for several reasons.  First, Morelli merely stated in dicta – as § 63(12) 

was not at issue – that “[c]laims for fraud and those brought pursuant to Executive 

Law § 63(12), governed by a six-year limitations period, are distinguishable from 

those brought pursuant to GBL § 349.”  Not only is this language non-binding, but 

Morelli acknowledges what is widely established:  a six-year limitations period 

governs when a § 63(12) claim is tethered to an underlying fraud claim.11   

Second, Morelli never stated that every § 63(12) claim – regardless of 

whether it is based on conduct made illegal by statute – is governed by a six-year 

statute of limitations.  Indeed, recent case law demonstrates otherwise.  See Daicel, 

42 AD3d at 303-04; Novartis Pharms. Corp., 50 F Supp 3d at 550-51; Pharmacia 

Corp., 27 Misc 3d at 373; City Model & Talent Dev., Inc., 29 Misc 3d 1205[A], 

                                                 
11  This interpretation is consistent with the grammatical rule of subject-complement agreement 

in which the complement must agree with the subject.  As the subject is plural here, (i.e. 

“[c]laims for fraud and those brought pursuant to Executive Law § 63(12)), the complement 

must remain singular (i.e. “a” six-year limitations period).  Here, the fact that the complement is 

singular shows that six-year limitations period only applies when both a § 63(12) claim and 

underlying fraud claim are coupled together.  If the six-year period governs when those claims 

are brought independently, the court would have used the complement “their” six-year 

limitations periods.  See Oxford Dictionary of English Grammar, agreement [Oxford University 

Press 2d ed 2014] 

[http://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/acref/9780192800879.001.0001/acref-

9780192800879-e-53?rskey=iWuJWM&result=54] [Note: online subscription version]. 
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2010 NY Slip Op 51704[U] at *4; Empire Prop. Solutions, LLC, 2011 NY Slip Op 

33040[U] at *16-17. 

Third, even assuming arguendo that Morelli’s statement regarding § 63(12) 

is binding, it is superseded by the subsequent decisions of Daicel and Gaidon II, 

which apply a three-year statute of limitations, as opposed to a six-year statute of 

limitations, when § 63(12) claims are premised upon conduct made illegal by 

statute, rather than common law fraud.   

The Appellate Division’s reliance on Bronxville is also misplaced as the AG 

in that case had brought an investor fraud claim under the Martin Act, which is 

unlike the AG’s § 63(12) claim here.  181 AD2d at 516.  Bronxville found 

“investor fraud was not created by the Martin Act, but is recognized in case law 

predating that legislation” and therefore properly applied a six-year statute of 

limitations to the Martin Act claim.12  Id. at 516-17.  However, here, insofar as the 

AG is pursuing a § 63(12) claim that does not require proof of all the elements of a 

common law fraud claim, such as reliance and scienter, the AG’s § 63(12) claim is 

                                                 
12  Indeed, certain investor fraud statutes that preceded the Martin Act also did not require proof 

of scienter or reliance.  See e.g. Hutchinson v Young, 80 AD 246, 248-49 [2d Dept 1903] 

(describing liability under earlier investor fraud statutes as “greater than that which existed at 

common law, where, in an action for deceit scienter was essential to the maintenance of the 

action,” and covering losses suffered “whether or not incurred on the faith” of the false 

information); Parsons v Johnson, 28 AD 1, 4-5 [4th Dept 1898] (finding that a previous investor 

fraud statute holds an officer to “strict account for his statement, if false, whether knowingly 

made or otherwise”). 
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nonexistent at common law and therefore governed by CPLR § 214(2)’s three-year 

statute of limitations.13   

The Appellate Division incorrectly relied upon Bronxville when it reasoned:  

“§ 63(12) does not encompass a significantly wider range of fraudulent activities 

than were legally cognizable before the section’s enactment.”  (Decision at 39 (A. 

615).)  Bronxville, however, specifically found that the Martin Act – as opposed to 

§ 63(12) – did not create liability for investor fraud but codified liabilities that 

already existed before its enactment.  181 AD2d at 516.14  Bronxville is not 

controlling authority here where this Court has held that the definition of fraud 

under § 63(12) encompasses not just common law fraud but also new liabilities 

created by statute.15  Cortelle, 38 NY2d at 87.   

                                                 

13  The Gaidon II court expressly rejected the AG’s “akin” argument when it attempted to argue 

that a statutory fraud claim that lacked the elements of scienter or reliance codified pre-existing 

common law fraud.  Gaidon II, 96 NY2d at 209.  Gaidon II applies equally here. 

14  See also 4C NY Prac, Com Litig in New York State Courts § 90:14 [4th ed] [2015] (noting 

existence of common law private right of action for securities fraud “that predated the passage of 

the Martin Act”); 72 NY Jur 2d Investment Securities § 258 (“[L]iability for investor fraud was 

recognized in case law predating the Act.”). 

15  See also Pharmacia Corp., 27 Misc 3d at 373 (“Thus, Executive Law § 63 (12) applies to 

fraudulent conduct actionable at common law, as well as to conduct for which liability arises 

solely from statute.”); Novartis Pharm. Corp., 50 F Supp 3d at 549-50 (“While it may be true 

that these statutes ‘incorporate [ ] already existing standards applied to fraudulent behavior 

always recognized as such,’ this factor is not dispositive, because these statutes ‘may in part 

expand the definition of fraud so as to create a new liability in some instances,’ such that 

C.P.L.R. § 213 applies instead.”). 
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C. The Attorney General Has Argued Directly Contrary Positions 

In The Past That The § 63(12) Claim Existed At Common Law 

Although the AG has argued to the lower courts that its fraud-like § 63(12) 

claim is a pre-existing common law claim, the AG has taken a directly contrary 

position against other parties.16  For instance, in People v First Am. Corp., 2011 

NY Slip Op 33061[U], *4 [Sup Ct, NY County 2011], the AG successfully 

persuaded the New York Supreme Court to deny respondent its constitutional right 

to a jury trial because § 63(12) (and GBL § 349) “are primarily equitable in nature 

insofar as they are statutory creations that did not exist at common law.”  See also 

Plaintiff’s Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion to Strike 

Defendants’ Demand for a Jury Trial at 7, People v First Am. Corp., 2011 NY Slip 

Op 33061[U] [No. 406796/07] [June 15, 2011] (Add. 47) (“Both [Executive Law 

§ 63(12) and GBL §349] are broad remedial statutes that created new causes of 

action for fraudulent and deceptive conduct going far beyond common law 

                                                 
16  Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Its Motion to Strike Defendants’ Demand for a 

Jury Trial at 5, People v First Am. Corp., 2011 NY Slip Op 33061[U] [No. 406796/07] [May 24, 

2011].  (Add. 33.)  This Court can take judicial notice of the briefs cited herein.  Allen v Strough, 

301 AD2d 11, 18-19 [2d Dept 2002] (noting that New York courts “may take judicial notice of a 

record in the same court of either the pending matter or of some other action”); Yuppie Puppy 

Pet Prods., Inc. v St. Smart Realty, LLC, 77 AD3d 197, 202 [1st Dept 2010] (taking judicial 

notice of the party’s brief in another case as an “undisputed court record or file,” in part, to 

prevent the party from taking contradictory positions in the two present actions); Edward J. 

Minskoff Equities, Inc. v Crystal Window & Door Sys., Ltd., 108 AD3d 488, 490 [1st Dept 2013] 

(taking judicial notice of the briefs in a different matter to resolve whether a legal issued was 

argued in that case). 
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fraud.”); id. at 1, 3.  (Add. 41, 43.)   The AG should not be allowed to argue 

whatever best suits his agenda. 

III. THE APPELLATE DIVISION ERRED IN HOLDING THAT 

FRAUD UNDER § 63(12) CAN BE ESTABLISHED WITHOUT 

PROOF OF SCIENTER AND RELIANCE 

The Appellate Division erred when it held that the AG’s § 63(12) claim can 

have the benefit of a common law fraud’s six-year statute of limitations period 

without having to prove reliance and scienter.  (Decision at 38 (A. 614).)  That 

holding is directly contrary to Cortelle, which held the residual six-year limitations 

period under CPLR § 213(1) applied to the § 63(12) claim because all of the 

elements of common law promissory fraud were properly alleged.  Cortelle, 38 

NY2d at 89.  See also Gaidon II, 96 NY2d at 208 (finding that a three-year statute 

of limitations applied to a misrepresentation that did not meet the requirements for 

common law fraud).  

To seek the benefit of a six-year statute of limitations under § 63(12), based 

on fraudulent conduct, all the elements of common law fraud must be alleged – i.e. 

misrepresentation of a material fact, falsity, scienter, reliance and injury.  See 

Eurycleia Partners, LP v Seward & Kissel, LLP, 12 NY3d 553, 559 [2009]; Small 

v Lorillard Tobacco Co., 94 NY2d 43, 57 [1999]; New York Univ. v Cont. Ins. Co., 

87 NY2d 308, 317 [1995]; Barclays Arms, Inc. v Barclays Arms Assocs., 74 NY2d 

644, 646-47 [1989]; Channel Master Corp. v Aluminum Ltd. Sales, Inc., 4 NY2d 
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403, 407 [1958].  The Court of Appeals has never dispensed with these fraud 

requirements even before the enactment of § 63(12).  Ochs v Woods, 221 NY 335, 

338 [1917]; Arthur v Griswold, 55 NY 400, 410 [1874]. 

Significantly, the Appellate Division did not even cite to legal authority 

showing any type of fraud claim that exists at common law independent of 

§ 63(12) and does not require proof of scienter or reliance.  The Appellate 

Division’s reliance on People v American Motor Club, 179 AD2d 277, 283 [1st 

Dept 1992] for the proposition that fraud under § 63(12) is a standalone claim that 

may be established without proof of scienter or reliance is unavailing.  First, the 

Appellate Division selectively decided to reject Schwab which expressly held, 

based on Cortelle, that § 63(12) is not a standalone claim to instead embrace 

American Motor, which does not even address Cortelle’s holding.  See American 

Motor, 179 AD2d at 277-83.  Second, even if the AG can bring a standalone claim, 

which it cannot, American Motor never held, as the AG is attempting to do here, 

that a six-year statute of limitations period applies to a statutory fraud claim that 

does not require proof of all the elements of a common law fraud claim.   

Additionally, while claims under the Martin Act are governed by a six-year 

limitations period even though they do not require proof of scienter and reliance, 

that reasoning does not apply equally to § 63(12) because the Martin Act explicitly 

allows for the AG to bring claims under that Act without proof of scienter and 
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reliance.  N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 352-c; People v Merkin, 26 Misc 3d 1237[A], 

2010 NY Slip Op 50430[U], *7 [Sup Ct, NY County 2010] (noting that the AG 

need not prove intent or reliance in a civil Martin Act claim based on 352-c(1)(c)); 

People v Greenberg, 95 AD3d 474, 483 [1st Dept 2012].17   

Conversely, § 63(12) does not expressly allow for the AG to pursue claims 

under that provision without proof of scienter and reliance.  The legislature was 

undoubtedly aware of § 352-c of the Martin Act when enacting § 63(12), and it 

deliberately mirrored some portions of the Martin Act, but not the portion dealing 

with scienter and reliance.  Thus, the legislature did not intend to have § 63(12) 

operate similarly to the Martin Act in being a standalone claim that did not require 

proof of reliance and scienter.  See Cruz v TD Bank, N.A., 22 NY3d 61, 72 [2013] 

(“when interpreting a statute, courts typically do not rely on legislative silence to 

infer significant alterations of existing law on the rationale that legislative bodies 

generally do not hide elephants in mouseholes.”) (citations omitted).18   

                                                 
17  Even though the definition of fraud (which does not require proof of scienter or reliance) is 

located in the criminal section of the Martin Act, courts have read this definition of fraud to 

apply to the Act as a whole and therefore apply to civil actions.  People v Barysh, 95 Misc 2d 

616, 621 [Sup Ct, NY County 1978]; see also William N. Eskridge, Jr., Philip P. Frickey, & 

Elizabeth Garrett, Cases and Materials on Legislation: Statutes and the Creation of Public Policy 

833 [3d ed 2001] (noting, as part of the Whole Act Rule, that readers should assume “the same 

meaning is implied by the use of the same expression in every part of the act.”). 

18  See also Davis v State, 91 AD3d 1356, 1358 [4th Dept 2012] (refusing to infer a private right 

of action under a statute or infer that the Legislature intended to do so where the actual language 

was not included in the statute); Whitfield v United States, 543 US 209, 216 [2005] (holding that 

“Congress has included an express overt-act requirement in at least 22 other current conspiracy 

statutes, clearly demonstrating that it knows how to impose such a requirement when it wishes to 
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Accordingly, the Appellate Division’s holding that the AG can benefit from 

the six-year statute of limitations applicable to common law fraud claims without 

proving scienter and reliance must be rejected.  If the AG wants a six-year 

limitations period to govern its claim, he must plead all the elements of fraud or 

otherwise be subject to the three-year limitations period of a statutory claim.  The 

AG cannot have it both ways. 

IV. THE APPELLATE DIVISION ERRED IN DISMISSING 

THE TRUMP APPELLANTS’ AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

The Appellate Division erred in affirming the Supreme Court’s decision, 

which incorrectly dismissed the Trump Appellants’ third, fifth, sixth, eleventh, 

fifteenth, and sixteenth affirmative defenses on the basis that they did not “state 

proper affirmative defenses,” and incorrectly dismissed the fourteenth affirmative 

defense on the basis that the disclaimers in the enrollment forms failed to provide a 

defense to the fraud claims.  (Decision at 39 (A. 615); Kern II at 27-30 (A. 55-58).)  

The Appellate Division did not provide any analysis for its Decision but simply 

stated that the Supreme Court’s dismissal was correct.  (Decision at 39 (A. 615).) 

A party responding to a pleading is required under CPLR § 3018(b) to 

“plead all matters which if not pleaded would be likely to take the adverse party by 

                                                 

do so”); Franklin Natl. Bank of Franklin Square v New York, 347 US 373, 378 [1954] (finding 

“no indication that Congress intended to make this phase of national banking subject to local 

restrictions, as it has done by express language in several other instances”); FCC v NextWave 

Personal Commc’ns, Inc., 537 US 293, 302 [2003] (holding that when Congress has intended to 

create exceptions to bankruptcy law requirements, “it has done so clearly and expressly”). 
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surprise or would raise issues of fact not appearing on the face of a prior pleading.”  

In instances where it is unclear if an affirmative defense is necessary, it has been 

the practice in New York for a party to “treat it as a defense and plead.”  Sinacore 

v State of New York, 176 Misc 2d 1, 4 [NY Ct Cl 1998] (citations omitted).  Where 

an affirmative defense is pled and a denial would have been sufficient, the burden 

of proof does not shift.  See Beece v Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am., 110 AD2d 865, 

867 [2d Dept 1985]. 

The AG, in moving to dismiss the Trump Appellants’ affirmative defenses, 

“bears the heavy burden of showing that the defense is without merit as a matter of 

law . . . [and] the court should not dismiss a defense where there remain questions 

of fact requiring a trial.”  Granite State Ins. Co. v Transatlantic Reins. Co., 132 

AD3d 479, 481 [1st Dept 2015] (citing 534 E. 11th St. Hous. Dev. Fund Corp. v 

Hendrick, 90 AD3d 541, 542 [1st Dept 2011]); see also CPLR § 3211(b).  Further, 

on a motion to dismiss or strike an affirmative defense, “the court must liberally 

construe the pleadings in favor of the party asserting the defense and give that 

party the benefit of every reasonable inference.”  Chestnut Realty Corp. v 

Kaminski, 95 AD3d 1254, 1255 [2d Dept 2012]. 

Because, as discussed below, the AG did not meet its heavy burden of 

demonstrating that the affirmative defenses are without merit as a matter of law, 

and the lower courts failed to liberally construe the affirmative defenses in the 
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Trump Appellants’ favor and give them the benefit of every reasonable inference, 

the affirmative defenses must be reinstated.  534 E. 11th St. Hous. Dev. Fund 

Corp., 90 AD3d at 541-42 (affirmative defenses reinstated because Defendant 

adequately pled the defenses). 

A. The Third And Eleventh Affirmative Defenses 

Were Dismissed In Error 

The third affirmative defense alleged that petitioner has failed to establish a 

pattern or practice of deceptive and/or fraudulent conduct to support any of its 

§ 63(12) claims.  (A. 401.)  The Trump Appellants alleged that the purported 

conduct was the result of isolated or inadvertent errors and therefore the AG failed 

to satisfy the “repeated” or “persistent” conduct requirements under § 63(12).  See 

e.g. People ex rel. Cuomo v Dell, Inc., 21 Misc 3d 1110[A], 2008 NY Slip Op 

52026[U], *5 [Sup Ct, Albany County 2008] (limited bad acts did not support 

imposition of penalty or injunctive relief because there was “no indication that 

these were anything other than isolated good faith errors”).  For example, 

Appellants alleged and provided evidence that 10,000 student surveys reflected a 

98% approval rating, and that customer testimonials collected by TEI also reflected 

high customer satisfaction.  (A. 201, A. 358, A. 447.)  By contrast, the AG 

submitted evidence pertaining to less than 1% of TEI students.  (A. 197, A. 225, A. 

315, A. 374, A. 446, A. 551, A. 586.)   
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Rather than accepting the Trump Appellants’ allegations as true and not 

making factual determinations, the Supreme Court improperly dismissed the third 

affirmative defense. (Kern II at 27 (A. 55)); Stopani v Allegany Co-op Ins. Co., 83 

AD3d 1446, 1446-47 [4th Dept 2011]; Capital Tel. Co. v Motorola Commc’ns & 

Elecs. Inc., 208 AD2d 1150, 1150 [3d Dept 1994]. 

For their eleventh affirmative defense, the Trump Appellants alleged that the 

acts were “isolated and limited, and do not establish a pattern or practice” to 

support any of the AG’s § 63(12) claims.  (A. 402.)  The Trump Appellants would 

not be liable for “isolated and limited incidents of TEI’s employees” because the 

employees were acting outside of the scope of their employment given that TEI 

had guidelines and procedures in place that ensured the instructors were properly 

trained and prohibited them from making false claims, including claims of success.  

(A. 235, A. 280, A. 281, A. 356-87, A. 617-65, A. 666-67.)  Because the Trump 

Appellants cannot be liable for the actions of their employees which are done 

outside of the scope of their employment, and the Trump Appellants properly 

pleaded that defense, the Supreme Court erred in dismissing the eleventh 

affirmative defense.  (Kern II at 27 (A. 55)); see e.g. Prudential-Bache Sec., Inc. v 

Citibank, N.A., 73 NY2d 263, 276 [1989] (employers are not liable when their 

employees are acting outside of the scope of employment); Considine v 

Southampton Hosp., 83 AD3d 883, 884 [2d Dept 2011] (employee acted outside of 
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the scope of employment when he violated his employer’s policies); Boggan v 

Abby Finishing Co., 11 AD2d 591, 592 [3d Dept 1960] (same). 

Moreover, because the Trump Appellants were unable to deny allegations 

regarding a “pattern or practice” as those allegations were absent from the Petition, 

they properly defended by asserting the third and eleventh affirmative defenses.  

See Granite State Ins. Co., 132 AD3d at 481. 

B. The Fifth And Sixth Affirmative Defenses 

Were Dismissed In Error 

The fifth and sixth affirmative defenses allege that the Petition failed to 

allege facts as of May 31, 2010.  (A. 401.)  In Kern II, the Supreme Court held that 

the AG “failed to provide any evidence of the alleged deceptive business practices 

. . ., which occurred after May 31, 2010, the relevant statutory period.”  (Kern II at 

14 (A. 42).)  Only one affidavit annexed to the Petition related to a consumer’s 

attendance of a seminar after May 31, 2010.  As the Supreme Court found, that 

affidavit did not “provide any evidence of the alleged deceptive business 

practices.”  (Kern II at 13-14 (A. 41-42).)  Therefore, given that the Appellate 

Division erred in failing to apply a three-year limitations period to the § 63(12) 

claim and the Supreme Court correctly concluded there were no allegations of 

deceptive practices during the relevant time period, the fifth and sixth affirmative 

defenses were improperly dismissed.  See e.g. A. Morrison Trucking, Inc. v 
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Bonfiglio, 13 Misc 3d 1211[A], 2006 NY Slip Op 51784[U], *7 [Sup Ct, Kings 

County 2006].  

C. The Fourteenth, Fifteenth And Sixteenth 

Affirmative Defenses Were Dismissed In Error 

The fourteenth affirmative defense alleges that the AG’s claims based on 

fraud are barred by the enrollment forms executed by participants which contain 

disclaimers.  (A. 230, A. 279, A. 379, A. 402, A. 546-47, A. 572.)  New York 

courts have recognized that disclaimers are an appropriate affirmative defense to 

common law fraud.  See e.g. Gaidon I, 94 NY2d at 345, 349-50 (disclaimers that 

noted that interest rates were not guaranteed are sufficient to absolve defendants of 

fraud); Flax v Lincoln Natl. Life Ins. Co., 54 AD3d 992, 994 [2d Dept 2008] 

(finding “that disclaimers contained in the policy and the promotional materials 

provided to [plaintiff] were sufficient to absolve the defendants of fraud.”). 

The Supreme Court incorrectly dismissed the fourteenth affirmative defense 

on the basis that the disclaimers do not provide a defense because they were 

“buried in small print.”  Kern II at 30 (A. 58).  This is an improper finding of fact.  

The disclaimers at issue here varied in size including up to 9.5-point font size.  (A. 

573, A. 783, A. 786, A. 788, A. 790.)  Under CPLR § 4544, only portions of 

documents less than eight point font size, or in the case of upper case type five and 

one-half point font size, are not admissible.  See CPLR § 4544 (McKinney).     
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The Supreme Court also found that “such disclaimers do not specifically 

disclaim the particular facts petitioner alleges were misrepresented or undisclosed” 

and “such facts were only within the Trump Appellants’ knowledge.”  (Kern II at 

30 (A. 58).)  Again, the Supreme Court was incorrect.  Issues of fact exist to the 

extent that the disclaimers tracked the representations at issue.  For example, the 

AG alleged the students purportedly relied on promises of success and profit but 

any such promises were specifically disclaimed in font size of eight point or larger.  

(A. 69, A. 296.)  Accordingly, the fourteenth affirmative defense should not have 

been dismissed at the pleading stage.  (A. 238, A. 572, A. 732, A. 734, A. 736, A. 

738, A. 755, A. 785-86, A. 788, A. 790, A. 792, A. 794, A. 796-97, A. 799.) 

For their fifteenth affirmative defense, the Trump Appellants alleged that the 

AG’s fraud-based claims are barred or refuted by surveys and testimonials, which 

demonstrate a 98% approval rating, which undermines the AG’s claims, including 

claims regarding the quality of the TEI programs and purported misrepresentations.  

(A. 201, A. 358, A. 402, A. 447.)  At the motion to dismiss stage, the Supreme 

Court and Appellate Division erroneously failed to take those allegations as true 

and erroneously dismissed the affirmative defense.  Stopani, 83 AD3d at 1446-47.   

The Trump Appellants allege in their sixteenth affirmative defense that 

“participants’ failure to put in proper efforts and comply with workbooks, 

homework, and/or market conditions” resulted in student dissatisfaction or lack of 
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success.  (A. 403, A. 670.)  Given that the AG is complaining about the quality of 

the program, the participants’ ability to follow the program raises a factual issue 

about the participants’ injuries which cannot be resolved at the motion to dismiss 

stage.  See Fed. Natl. Mtge. Assn. v Ricks, 83 Misc 2d 814, 828 [Sup Ct, Kings 

County 1975] (noting that failure to follow Handbook and follow clear directives 

affects ability to get relief).   

V. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS’ 

MOTION TO CONVERT THE SPECIAL PROCEEDING INTO A 

PLENARY ACTION 

The Appellate Division erroneously affirmed the Supreme Court’s decision 

denying Appellants’ motion to convert the § 63(12) special proceeding to a plenary 

action pursuant to CPLR § 103(c).  (Decision at 40 (A. 616); Kern II at 33-34 (A. 

61-62.).) 

Under CPLR §103(c), the court, “in the interests of justice,” can convert a 

special proceeding into a plenary action.  Here, the lower courts abused their 

discretion in failing to convert the AG’s action into a plenary action because the 

objectives for commencing a § 63(12) special proceeding – i.e. to “prevent the 

perpetration of continuing frauds [for a] present business” and provide 

“expeditious means for the Attorney General to prevent further injury and seek 
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relief”19 – are not present here.  Here, there are no “continuing frauds [for] a 

present business” as the now-defunct-TEI has ceased operations for over six years 

and this action involves sufficiently complex issues that vary from consumer to 

consumer.20  (A. 193-94, A. 199, A. 215, A. 328, A. 333-34, A. 439; Kern I at 9 

(A. 17); Kern II at 5-6 (A. 33-34).)   

Here, the AG did not, as he could not, allege any ongoing wrongful conduct.  

Indeed, when the AG instituted his action, he did not seek a temporary restraining 

order or preliminary injunction.  (A.29-30, A. 65-66, A. 104-05.)  Nor could he 

given that the AG waited more than three years after TEI ceased its operations to 

file this proceeding.  Because the AG is not enjoining any continuing conduct and 

there is no “present business,” this is at most a monetary damages action dressed 

up as a special proceeding to prevent Appellants from obtaining the benefits of 

discovery to defend against the AG’s claims.  (A. 193-94, A. 199, A. 215, A. 328, 

A. 333-34, A. 439; Kern I at 9 (A. 17).)  Further, there are numerous complex 

issues of fact relevant to the AG’s claims.  For instance, the AG claims to represent 

over 5,000 consumers that he may very well need to call as witnesses to try to 

prove damages as to each consumer who had their own unique experiences and 

                                                 
19  People v Apple Health Sports Clubs, Ltd., 206 AD2d 266, 268 [1st Dept 1994]; 21 NY Jur 2d 

Consumer and Borrower Protection § 18. 

20  See e.g. State v Seaport Manor A.C.F., 2003 NY Slip Op 30211[U], *11 [Sup Ct, Kings 

County 2003] (finding that the “numerous and complex issues of fact” warranted full discovery 

on, inter alia, petitioner’s §63(12) claims). 
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aptitude, attended different seminars with different instructors, etc.  (A.70, A. 115, 

A. 279, A. 291, A. 294, A. 484.) 

Moreover, as the AG has not and cannot show any need to enjoin 

Appellants’ current activities, this proceeding should be converted to a plenary 

action in which the AG can still seek injunctive relief.  See Diamond Asphalt Corp. 

v Sander, 92 NY2d 244, 253 [1998] (turning special proceeding into declaratory 

judgment action and refusing injunction where work under awarded contract was 

completed or substantially completed); People by Lefkowitz v Volkswagen of Am., 

Inc., 47 AD2d 868, 868 [1st Dept 1975] (affirming “Special Term’s refusal to 

summarily grant the injunction [under GBL §§ 349 and 350] in view of the 

immediate correction of the advertisement and the passage of almost three years 

without repetition of the offense”); see also Polzer v TRW, Inc., 256 AD2d 248, 

249 [1st Dept 1998].    

VI. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN LIMITING APPELLANTS’ 

DISCOVERY 

The Appellate Division erroneously affirmed the Supreme Court’s decision, 

which limited discovery.  (Decision at 40 (A. 616); Kern II at 33-34 (A. 61-62).)  

To the extent that the Court rules, as shown above, that the AG’s § 63(12) claim is 

statutorily created and subject to a three-year statute of limitations period, 

Appellants are entitled to discovery to the extent the surviving statutory claims are 

based on events that occurred after May 31, 2010.  Further, to the extent that the 
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Court rules that the AG has a common law fraud claim that is subject to a six-year 

statute of limitations period, then the AG must prove individual scienter and 

reliance and therefore Appellants are entitled to full-scale discovery on those 

issues.   

A. Appellants Properly Sought Discovery In The 

Special Proceeding 

Appellants had properly moved before the Supreme Court, pursuant to 

CPLR §§ 408, 3101, and 3102(a), and (f), for leave to serve (i) discovery demands 

relating to the AG’s claims, including disclosure from each student relating to any 

alleged misrepresentation that was made and any purported injury that was 

sustained, (ii) discovery demands and notices of deposition upon the AG regarding 

its investigation into the alleged claims against TEI, and (iii) an order directing the 

AG to produce all individuals identified for whom damages are sought in the 

remaining causes of action.  (A. 434-35.)   

In partially granting Appellants’ motion for an order granting discovery, the 

Supreme Court correctly agreed that Appellants were entitled to take depositions as 

to “each individual student on behalf of whom petitioner is seeking to recover 

damages based on common law fraud within the six-year statutory period” if, and 

to the extent that, the AG must prove individual reliance and scienter.  (Kern II at 

33 (A. 61).)  However, the Supreme Court nonetheless denied full-scale discovery, 

including paper discovery.  (Kern II at 34, 35 (A. 62, 63).)   
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Even though the Supreme Court and Appellate Division have discretion in 

granting or denying discovery under CPLR §§ 408 and 3101, Grossman v 

McMahon, 261 AD2d 54, 57 [3d Dept 1999], that “discretion is not unlimited.”  

Allen v Crowell-Collier Publ. Co., 21 NY2d 403, 406 [1968] (reversing Appellate 

Division and holding that where information sought was “material and necessary” 

to a party’s claims, party was entitled to interrogatory answers); see also Lipson v 

Dime Sav. Bank of New York, FSB, 203 AD2d 161, 163 [1st Dept 1994] (“[W]e 

find it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to force the parties to trial 

without first providing them with a reasonable opportunity for the completion of 

discovery.”). 

B. Appellants Have Demonstrated Special Circumstances 

And Ample Need For Discovery Under CPLR § 408 

Appellants have demonstrated the need for discovery under CPLR § 408, 

under which leave is granted upon a showing of special circumstances.  Matter of 

Greens at Washingtonville, Ltd. v Town of Blooming Grove, 98 AD3d 1118, 1119 

[2d Dept 2012] (affirming granting of motion to compel discovery pursuant to 

CPLR § 408 where “disclosure request sought information which was material and 

necessary to the litigation”). 

Here, it is clear there are special circumstances and ample need for 

depositions.  (Kern II at 33-34 (A. 61-62).)  Like a deposition, paper discovery is 

“material and necessary” for Appellants to defend against the AG’s case.  This 
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prosecution involves numerous and complex issues of fact, and damages in 

particular will be fact-driven.  See e.g. Seaport Manor, 2003 NY Slip Op 30211[U] 

at *11.  Appellants seek necessary information regarding the specific 

misrepresentation or deceptive business practice that each former student allegedly 

claims occurred on or after May 31, 2010 as the Petition fails to identify any 

injured person or facts supporting those claims.  By improperly limiting 

Appellants’ discovery and denying the benefit of paper discovery, Appellants are 

forced to defend a multi-million dollar damages action with zero opportunity to see 

the basis of or even challenge the damages prior to the CPLR § 410 hearing.  (A. 

69, A. 116, A. 444.)  

Appellants also established that ample need and special circumstances 

require disclosure of communications between the students and the AG because 

that information is relevant to ascertain the reliability and credibility of the 

statements made in the numerous affidavits that the AG so heavily relies upon.  As 

those communications were closer in time to the events, they will serve as better 

evidence of what the students actually recollected.  Further, because the AG made 

statements regarding the lack of viability of his claims against TEI, Appellants 

should be entitled to discover what evidence prompted the AG to change its tune 

on this “very weak” case.  (A. 189, A. 195, A. 198.) 
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Additionally, the Supreme Court erred by not properly balancing the needs 

of Appellants against the AG’s opposing interest to avoid unnecessary delay.  

Matter of Town of Pleasant Val. v New York State Bd. of Real Prop. Servs., 253 

AD2d 8, 16 [2d Dept 1999] (granting leave where Board had not demonstrated that 

discovery “would be prejudicial or unduly burdensome, would violate 

confidentiality, or would unduly delay the case”).  The balance favors granting 

broader disclosure as the affidavits submitted by the AG were prepared many years 

after the students attended the TEI program and after the inappropriate publicity 

tour raised serious issues of reliability and credibility, and necessitates discovery of 

what notes/documents the affiants had and/or relied upon to prepare the affidavits.  

Further, the concern of preventing undue delay in a summary proceeding does not 

apply here when (a) the proceeding is no longer summary in nature because a trial 

has been ordered to resolve numerous issues of fact, and (b) there is no exigency as 

there is no risk of ongoing fraud given that TEI ceased operations several years 

ago.  (Kern II at 35-36 (A. 63-64)); see Lev v Lader, 115 AD2d 522, 523 [2d Dept 

1985].  Moreover, if after disclosure is granted in this case, there is evidence of 

delay, the AG can easily obtain a protective order.  See Chester v Zima, 41 Misc 2d 

676, 677 [Sup Ct, Erie County 1964]. 

Appellants, however, unlike the AG, do not have a remedy if their interests 

are ignored and they are forced to proceed to trial without the benefit of material 
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and necessary disclosure.  Appellants will undoubtedly be ambushed at trial, 

having to defend a case against the AG that involves tens of millions of dollars in 

damages without the benefit of discovery with respect to the 5,000 consumers that 

the AG claims to be representing.  (A. 69, A. 70, A. 115, A. 116, A. 291, A. 294, 

A. 444, A. 484.)  Because the summary proceeding is tantamount to a full-blown 

plenary action, Appellants should be entitled to discovery “to ascertain [the] truth 

and to accelerate the depositions of suits.”  Allen, 21 NY2d at 407 (citation 

omitted). 

VII. THE APPELLATE DIVISION ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN 

ALLOWING THE AG TO WITHHOLD NON-PRIVILEGED 

DOCUMENTS 

The Appellate Division abused its discretion in affirming the Supreme 

Court’s decision denying discovery of documents collected by the AG in 

connection with its investigation and communications with former students on the 

basis that the materials were protected as work product under CPLR § 3101(c).  

(Kern II at 35 (A. 63).)   

First, the lower courts abused their discretion because they allowed the AG 

to withhold documents even though the AG – who bears the burden of proof under 

CPLR § 3101(d) – failed to show that the requested documents were created 

primarily, if not solely, in anticipation of litigation.  See JP Foodservice Distribs. v 

Sorrento, Inc., 305 AD2d 266, 266 [1st Dept 2003]; Spectrum Sys. Intl. Corp. v 
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Chemical Bank, 157 AD2d 444, 448 [1st Dept 1990], affd as mod, 78 NY2d 371 

[1991]. 

Second, even assuming arguendo that the requested documents were 

protected as work product, the lower courts abused their discretion because 

Appellants made the necessary showing to overcome the work product doctrine, 

namely they showed that (a) there is a substantial need for the materials in the 

preparation of the case and (b) the failure to disclose will result in substantial 

injustice or undue hardship.  See e.g. Tucker v Weissman, 89 AD2d 852, 853 [2d 

Dept 1982].  As detailed above and based on the fact that the Supreme Court had 

granted some discovery, Appellants have necessarily shown ample need for 

discovery related to the AG’s § 63(12) fraud claim.  Further, without the requested 

discovery, Appellants will be severely prejudiced defending fraud-related claims, 

which implicate numerous factual issues, particularly where the evidence 

submitted by the AG raises credibility, reliability and damages issues.   



CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Decision should be reversed. 
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-.... i· . - -

A t present" the !'emedy of action diss 
able under Article 8 the General Corpora tion , 
ate the corpora e stance of corporations engaged 

nt or illegal acts in conduct or transaction 
business, but no remedy is available as rBS 
unincorporated .companies engaged in similar conduc 
avail thems~lves permiss t6 an 
assumed name ctton 

1 

__ re C OIrirne 1i .. 

ted: 
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<",:..- ,~ •.• _"" ~ ~ - ; "-'. 
.'~"w-~.",... ·~'.·_=r.'"", 

NEW YORK 6TAIl'E BAR ASSOCIATION 

COMMITTEE ON STATE LEGISLATIo.N 

1956 LEGISLATIVE SESSION 

S. Pr. :3558,4089 Int, 3289 

AN ACT to amend the executive .law, in 
relation to cancellation of registration of 
dqing business under an assumed narne 
or as partners for repeated fraudulent or 
illegal acts 

THE BILL IS DISAPPROVED. 

l 

REPOHT NO. 

]'I,ir. Tompkins 

This bill would add a new subsection 12 to SQction ()3 of the executive 

law to provide that whenever any person shall "engage in repeated fraudule)lt 

or illegal acts Or otherwise demonstrate persistent fraud or illega:l.,Uy "in the 

carrying on, conducting or transaction of business as a member of a partner-

ship or under an assumed business name, then the attorney-general may apply"tq,. 

the supreme court upon notice or five days for an order cancelling the registration 
- ~.= .... ~." ~" • , ___ ,~,,~. _,_ J 

of such partnership or assumed business name and further enjoining !1the. eontinu~ 

ance of such business activity or of any fraudulent or illegal acts" •. 

At the pre~cnt time, the State of New York has jurisdiction over corporations 

. by reason of their having riled certificates of incorporation with the Department of 

State. This bill attempts to include the Attorney General's jurisdiction over part-

nerships and people doing business under an assumed business name. However. 

medtorious the bill, the same has been drawn 1...'1 too loose a manner. Who is to 

lltlate what "repeated fraudulent or illegal acts or otherwise demonstrate persistent 

fraud or iUegaUt;r./ H means? In addition. how <;an any court enjoi.n the continuan.~ 

of any ufraudulent or illegal acts"? 

12 
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M.RTHUR :"'EVITT 

;i;ThT~ COMPTROLLER 

STATE OF NEW YORK 

DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT AND CONTROL 

ALBANY 

April 16:,; 1956 

His Excellency Averell Harriman 
Clovernor of the State of New York 
Executive Chamber 

IN - AEPL"VINC R!:"-J!'N l"Q_ ... 

Albany ~ New York 
Re: Senate Bill, Int .. , Pr* 4089 

Sir: 

This memorand:um 
COll..7J.seL 

By Jl.1r. Tompkins 

been prepared at the request of 

:::unending section 63 of cutive Law, 
. to the Attorney GeneraL additional 

~, : < i '! 

Under the new section, the Attorney General may apply to 
the Supreme Court for an order ca..."1celling any !fiiling or registra­
tionll made pursuant to section 440 of the Penal Law by any firm 
doil1g business as a partnership or under an assumed name when 
l?any. per.sonshall engage in repeated fraudulent or illegal aCDs 
or othervIise demonstrate persist.ent fraud or illegality in the 
carrying or conducting or transaction of business as a member 

.of a part.nership or under any nazn", or other than 
his real fiame 1f

$ 

In addition, the Attorney General may an order 
If·enjo:im:ng:;t;;he ·e0rtt::i(lWmceo'~··'Sb''''~;h41i5ineS:5·· aeti'\t't:ty ~.,;:~;,:.:.,;,,,,,.~," .. : 
fraudulent ~r illegal acts." 

The provision cancellation of any fffiling or registra-
tion!? and the provisio.!;l authorizing obtaJ.ning an inj~ction 
against the continuance of business activity must be read 
together. Under provisions of section 440 of the Penal 
Law, it would be a mi·sdemeanor· to¢.oontinue in business under 
an assumed name after cancellation of any Ufiling or registra­
tionlt pursuant to that section. '·If the statute is interpreted 
to mean that after cancellation, the guilt.y person or partner­
ship can be enjoined from continuing in business under the 
a·ssumed or partnership name, the potential efi'ect of the statute 
hardly justifies its enactment. The guilty or 
would merely have to change the firm name. 
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-2-
Excellency Averell Harriman 

~ ~~ ". 
~. Seli'ate Bill, Int. 3289, Pro 4089 

-----------------Tlie-only-Togicar-lnt-erpretatTon of the statute is that 
the provision gives authority to enjoin the cont:i;nuance of 
the-Itbusiness acti:v:ity" itself •.. ~~:W~Q~qy~'~.:tJons na..t tU'a11y-< 
cometomiIld:Why 'restrict. the {lpplicati6n of the section 

..:.:to~ca.sesinwhich an assumed. or pa.rtne:rship name is utilized?~ . 
. Why· not:grant the~·~AttorneyGerieral authorit1-to-enjoinanyone---~-.::.­
from continuing in a business activity if ·such person has been 
guilty=-~o-Hr __ equentfraudulent dealings? ~ 

---~-:- ·----=it:~~y:--~ei~-b~-t-~~"~~~ ce~t~i~-b~s-i~~ ~se ~ in -:;;hi-~h--~--~-
~ ---------- "partnerships or assumed names are frequent, as in-the business 

of. dealing" in "securities , such injunctions might be justifiable. 
Indeed"'sectiozi~: __ J53 ofthe_GeneraLBusiness-Law authorizes - , 

~-.~-- - ---- ~.- - ~ .. . .. 
':·:--~":·;~~"~~~;O~~~I~;e~;r~;fl~~uf~~~i~~~~~~e~~.- ~~~:f~t~~:··~ai~i~~!~e 

• are other.such businesses, the. imposition of such a severe' 
., penalty should be preceded by an independent legislative 

judgment in __ each case. j 
." Ina sui tf6r--a:n-ihjunctiori,tliere ""''i::s--noneed to prove 

- -----~_~----the~eharge~beyorid.A~reas9!l<l;ble-doubti --as .~ in-a ··criminal-cas~e--
.' a mereprep(md~:rance of evid,ence would be sufficient'" 

.. .~ ~ This Department does Mt.feeL~at sJlchbl,anket allthorjtL 
to,restrain-busin~ss activity for :i,mproper practices should be 
-granted.' ,The "amendment grants authority, in cases in which it 
lippli¢s ; to the A.ttorney General to obtain' injunctions against 
th~':~Oilt.ihuan,?e~t,an/typecOf 15usiz:ess activity. wi:t.h.out.--

. cr:un~:rlal conv;~ct~onorany_wrongdQl.ng"-_~ ____ . ____ ~;-

:;~;~~~~"·:;~~~in~'gii~~t~~~rt=1~~±~~~H~~fi~~~j2~;i:;;,:~~~ 
.- .. ~.-... J'udiciar-disci'etionprovides a safe'gUa.rd. ". 

" ,. ' . --. -- "._- " ... 

Very .'trUly yours, 
.. _ __" -_"._·_0. __ ~ ____ " 



BILL JACKET FOR CH. 666 [1965] (63(12) AMENDMENT ADDING DEFINITION OF

FRAUD) [ADD16­ADD23]

ADD16

CHAPTER_~ __ = 

-, 

<'~)ll,;I i"IIHWt,!'t~iLf_il1 

AN ACT 
T •. ~~""',,ex~cuti\le 'Cl'N, ,in reiation to clarifying themtfll-

.' . -', '-,' - -"-" - ',"- - - c 

ing of cartain WOfdI used therein with respect to the ~Ii 

" the att1imeY general 

Noltls' ___ _ 

----, ---,---

Compared b~-I.--'-_---'':''',d.f:...J ___ ,--_----.:{,-",-,: , 

\ 
- ............ ~===iAffJt,fJP"Rom'~tDy=====--'··­

JUl 2 - J965 

.-I l , ... " 
Oate ......... ,._'!)I.I'lf.!:\................ I ' 
So. of priutc.j Lillt! ................. _ ........ _ 
No. of CJI.,",OllUf.'" ~ 
elt.d .... nc of hi Us ".c" .................... _. __ ••••• ,_ 
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Title 

) 

NO RECOMMENDATION 

Int: 

the executive lavi in relation to clar:ifying the 

of' certa:l_n words v.sedtherei.<l -vri th respec'ttc the 

of' 1.:;11e 

~ne above bill has be~n re~erred to the Division o~ the Budget ~or comment. 
revie~; we ~1nd that (a) ~~e bill does not af~e~~ State ~1nance~ in 

the bill has no appreciable effect on State programs or aO~ln18tI'a1~1~Jn. 
o:f!'ice does not have the technical. responsibility to make ~ recom-
the bill. 

'W'e theref'ore mnke no recommendation. 
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8e •. Senate Lit, /.;;../...5.­
As sembi y Int. riO If 

MEMCf-{}\NDUM 

Pr. 1:;1..,19 
Pr'. 'y Itt)~;[ 

- ~KIV/¥<.J) G G",R..I)<A 
S. William Green 

AN ACT to amend the executive law. in relation to clarifying 
the meaning of certain words used therein with respect 
to the general duties of the attorney general 

This bill would amend subdivision 12 of Section 63 of 

the Executive Law (a) t9 equate the meaning of the words 

~fraud" and "fraudulent" as used therein with the provisions 

of the Martin Act (General Business Law, Art. 23-A. § 352), 

dealing with fraudulent acts in the sale of securities and 

commodities, and (b) to equate this statutory provision with 

the Uniform Commercial Code, § 2-302. effective September 24. 

1964. which permits the Courts for the first time expressly 

to refuse to enforce an "unconscionable contract or clause". 

This bill is part of the program of the Attorney General. 

Dated~ January 5. 19~5 
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LOUIS J, LEFKOWITZ 

ATTORNEy GENERAL 

STATE OF NEW YORK 

DEPARTMENT OF LAW 

ALBANY 

MEMORANDUM FOR THE OOVERNOR 

Re: Senate Int. 1215. Pr, 1219 

This bill, effective September 1, 1965, 
amends Executive Law, § 63, subdivision 12 to 
equate the meaning of the words "fraud" and 
"fraudulent- as used therein with the provisions 
of the lIiiC> tin Act, General Business Law, Art. 23~A, 
§ 352, dealing with fraudulent acts in the sale 
of securities and commodities, and to equate § 63 
with the provisions of Uniform Commercial Code, 
§ 2-302, which permits Courts for the first time 
expressly to refuse to enforce an unconscionable 
contract or clause, 

The bill will assure all consumers involved 
in any sales contract equal protection in all 
transactions to the fullest extent allowed under 
the Uniform Commercial Code. The amendment of 
§ 63 will allow my office to continue more 
efficiently its efforts to protect consumers 
more adequately from unscr\.lpulous business practices, 

This bill is part of the legislative program 
of my office and I st1'ongly urge its approval. 

Dated: June 30. 1965 

. , "3 

~CtfU"lY ;p~tp . 
~s £.{EfZ:~ ~v~ 

Attorney General 
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New York State Departme~>.,.E)f Commerce 

June 24, 1965 

§ENATE: \( \ /1) Intro 1215 
Print 1219 

Introduced by 
Mr. Gordon 

RECOMMENDATION: The Department of Commerce recommends disapproval of this bill. 

STATUTES INVOLVED: Executive Law. 

EFFECTIVE DATE: This act shall take effect September 1, 1965. 

DISCUSSION: 

1. Pu~ose of bill: The purpose of this bill is to provide that the werd "fraud" 
or "frauduleJ~t" as used with respect to the duties of the Attorney General 
regarding the enjoining of continuing or repeated fraud or fraudulent conduct 
in the transaction of bUSiness, to include "any device, scheme or artifice 
to defraud and any deception, misrepresentation, concealment, suppression, 
false pretence, false promise or unconscionable contractual provisions." 

2. Summary of provisions: This bill amends section 63 of the Executive Law, to 
effect the above pu'rpose. 

3. Prio~legislative history: None. 

4. Known position of others: This bill is sponsored by the Department of Law. 

5. Budget impl~cations: Unknown. 

6. Arguments in I;upport: This bill appears to be intended to assist the Attorney 
General in enjoining illegal and fraudulent business activities by more clearly 
defining what is meant by fraudulent. This Department is anxious that any 
illegal business activities be stopped, however, for the reasons stated in fr7 
below we do not believe that this particular bill would accomplish its intende~ 
purpose. 

7. 

8. 

Arguments in opposition: The definitions of "fraud" or "fraudulent" proposed 
by this bill go well beyond the common law concept of a fraud, to wit, a false 
representation of a fact by one person which deceives and is intended to deceive 
another who acts upon it to his detriment. Under the definition proposed here 
a fraud would extend to such an unrelated matter as an unconscionable contractual 
proviSion. WhDe such a provision goes to the validity of a contract it would 
not necessarily constitute a fraud. To include such a matter in this section 
does not appear in our opini.on to be within the purview of the section. further­
more» thiA proposed dp.finition of these terms does not require a fraud to be 
an intentional act. 

Reasons for recommendation: 
of this bill for the reasons 
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ALVIN H. SCHULMAN. CHAIRMAN 

200 PARK AVENUE 

NItW YORK 10017 

TN 7.8500 

THE ASSOCIATION OF THE BAR 

OF THE CITY 01" NEW YORK 

42 WEST 44TH STREET 

NEW YORK 10036 

COMMITTr~E ON STATE LEGISLATION 

LEONARD SCHAITMAN. SECRETARY 

200 PARK AVIENUIE 

NEW YORI< 10017 
TN 7.81100 

June 18, 1965 

Re: S. Int. 1215, Pro 1219 - Approved 

Dear Mr. Corbin: 

Answerip~ your inquiry with respect to the above 
bill, we wisi:1 to inf'orm you that we approve the measure. 

The bill, to take e:f:fect September 1, 1965, l'1ould 
amend section 63(12) of the Executive Law, which provides 
that whenever any person engages in repeated "fraudulent or 
illegal acts" in conducting or transacting business, the 
attorney general may apply to the supreme court :for an order 
enjoining the business activity or fraudulent or illegal 
acts. The bill would add to section 63(12) the followtng 
sentence: 

liThe word If'raud l or If'raudulent' as used 
herein shall include any device, scheme or 
artif'ice to de:fraud and any deception, mis­
representation~ concealment, suppreSSion, 
false pretence, f'alse promise or unconscionable 
contractual provisions. II 

Fraud has ~een defined by the courts as 

"any trick or artif'ice by one, to induce an­
other to :fall into, or remain in an error, to 
his harm. II Maher v. Hlbernia Insurance Co., 
67 N.Y. 2831 292 (1876) 

SL.1ilarly: 

"Fraud has been variously def'ined. No all 
incluSiVe definition can be framed owing to the 
multiform character of f'raud and the great 
variety of attendant circumstances. Each case 
must be determined on its particular and peculiar 
f'acts. The \'lisdom of an exact le~al de:finition 
has frequently been qi..!estloned. (See DuFlon v. PO\lleI'S I 

14 Abb. Pre [N.S.] 391.) 
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PfI.ge 2 
June 18, 1965 

"Actual :fraud is intentional :fraud, and it 
has been :frequently held that a promise made 
without any intention o:f per:forming it, i1' made 
to induce another to surrender some legal right 
and which accomplishes the end deSigned, is 
actual :fraud. (26 C.J. 1060.) 

"'Fraud ***comprises all acts .. omissions .. and 
concealments involving a breach o:f a legal 
or equitable duty and resulting in damage to 
another. 11 (26 C.J. 1059.) II CSo v. Cop.E,2. .. 
163 Misc. 249 .. 252 (Sup. ct.cfiess Co. 1937) 

vlith this interpretive background in mind.!' it cou-~d 
hardly be doubted that ":fraud II and Il:frap.dulent" have a sweep 
at least as broad as any de:finition .. including that propos~d 
in this bill. Further .. as the Tnird Department in construing 
section 63(12) o:f the Executive Law, recently held: 

liThe Attorney-General thus clearly is authorized 
to investigate alleged repeated act.s committed 
in the course 01' the conduct or business activities 
in this state w~ich are :fraudulent within the meaning 
which tee 1 a \,1 by cormnon usage attaches to that word. 
His power is not limited .. ~s appellant contends .. to 
inquiring into those v!hich by expr·ess statute are 
ei ther described as :fraudulent or defined as ::t1legal. 
vie conclude that there vIas authority to issue the 
subpoena." Prudential AdvertiSicrs Inc. v. Attorney 
General .. 22 App. Div. 2d 737 (3r Department 1964) 

Thus the bill is ~ot necessary to spell out the rule 
that ":rraud ll should be defined as in common usage. On the other 
hand .. if the Department o:f Lai'l believes it l"lise to de1'ine the 
scope of the Attorney General f s power even at the risl< of omf tting 
t;ome species of fraud comprised in the term as commonly used .. \ole 

can see no objection. 

For the reasons stated, the bill is approved. 

Hon. Sol Neil Corbin 
Executive Chamber 
State Capitol 
Albany.. Nel" York 12224 

Si£,1erely , 

b L ~~ G'--"~t...A:..-c... ___ ..(.....1,-",-a_,--
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CLIFFORO A. AlLANSON 
Ellecufive r.Hrecl",,.. 

BERNARD K. ALLAN SON 
t"surance Adm;n;,;f"ofor 

JAMES I. DONECHO 
Asst. 10 fltec. Director 

PRESIDENT 

LESTER A. GRAf 
President 
Geor9" H. Graf & Co .. In~. 
Dunkirk. N. Y. 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

MAURICE A. CONNELL 
Ttflesur., 
The Wm. H .. ng"r •• Co. 
Buffalo. N. Y. 

!:DWIN I DOillSKY 
Manage, 
5u.pd,. Md .... Co .• Inc. 
Ogd.n5b~rg, N. Y. 

JACK HANSON 
Sr. r .",., lor Conl",1 
Mae , York 
New :ity 

ALLAN ~. JOHNSON 
Vic .. P,es. £. Gen. I>4g,. 
Soh Fifth Ave. 
New York City 

JOHN P. KENNEDY 
",e.ielen# 
Kennedy Broth ... 
M.dina. N. 't. 

C, MOSSMAN M~LEAN 
Chai,mon of fJoarci 
Mclean', I)opt. Stor ••• Inc:. 
Binghamton, N. Y. 

JOHN K. MENZIES 
Stor .. Supt. 
E. W. Edward." Son 
Syracuse, N. Y. 

KENNETH C. RICHMONr, 
Executive Vice- p~ ,J!. 

Abraham" Str".' 
Brooklyn, N. Y. 

HAROLD J, ROCHE 
Rocha.t.r, N. Y. 

RU:,SELL SELKIRK 
Pre.ielfln' 
Selkirk H'1,clwar., Inc:. 
Cobleskill, N. Y. 

GEORGE M. STONE 
Dir. 01 Pub. R.!ati ,ns. 
J. C. Penney Co .. Inc. 
New York City 

n. Voice 01 R .. /ai/i .. g 

NEW YORK 5T ~.TE COUNCil OF RETAil MERCHANTS, INC. 

Telephone 41>5·1492 E)(ECUTIVE OFFICES - 30 lODGE STREET 

ALBANY, NEW YORK 12207 

July 1. 1965 

s. Int. 1215. Pro No. 1219 - Gordon 

"AN ACT to UIIIIM the executive Isw. in relation to clarify­
ing the meaning of certain words used therein with respect 
to the general duties of the attorney genera lUI 

Honorable NOll.OD II .• Rockefeller. Governor 
State of Raw York 
The Capitol 
Albany. Rew York 

'fbis bill l>-ould revise the definition of "freud or fraudulent" 
to include not only frauds of deception. 'IIIIisrepresent:ation. 
concea~nt and falsity. but alao "Ulu:omu::lmaable contractu:!. 
provisions." 

Such a definition. though requested by the Attorney General l
• 

offices. giv..as an "ua:coMci'OUable" degree of power to the en­
forcement ar. of governDent; a degree of power capable of 
8winaing frOB enforceaent to harassment to regulation. This 
18 certainly not the function of the Office of the Attorney 
General. The Attorney Ganeral has perfo~~ a valuble role 
in protecting the consUBina public from the fraudulent busi­
ness practiooer. His record is evidence that this provision 
is not necessary. 

We urge that this bill be vetoed. 

CM:!a 

Respectfully 
r- (r. . ' 
~~" 

Clifford 'A'):~llan':"'s,:)on>':'" ~.Y'>':>-"..r-'~ 
Executive Di~tor 

\ 



NEW YORK STATE LEGISLATIVE ANNUAL - 1956 

Transportation corporations, foreign 	S. I. 2056, Pr. 2235, McCullough Ch. 381 

General Corporation Law, § 211. Section 4 of the Transportation Corporation Law 
requires a corporation formed pursuant to that law, to set forth in the certificate 
of incorporation certain statements in respect to the territory, locality or routes 
of its operations. Section 5 of the Railroad Law requires a corporation formed 
pursuant to that law to state the kind of road to be operated and its length and 
termini. The principal purpose of the proposed bill is to make these requirements 
applicable to foreign corporations seeking authority to do business in New 
York as well as to domestic corporations. 

The proposed bill also deletes the words "or corporations" from subdivision 1. 
As presently worded, it could be contended that a foreign corporation can obtain 
authority to engage in two or more businesses for which a domestic corporation 
could not be formed. Thus, a domestic corporation may not be formed to engage 
in the real estate business and in that of a telephone company. A foreign corpo-
ration should likewise not be permitted to engage in diverse businesses requiring 
incorporation under separate acts. The deletion of the indicated phrase would 
remove any doubt on that score. 

State Department of Law Memorandum 

Corporations, annulment for fraud 	S. I. 3288, Pr. 3557, Tompkins Ch. 465 
Associations, cancel certificate, frauds 	S. I. 3289, Pr. 4089, Tompkins Ch. 592 

General Corporation Law, § 92; Executive Law, § 63. These bills carry out recom-
mendations of Attorney General Jacob K. Javits to strengthen the hand of his 
office in protecting the public against consumer frauds: 

1. S. I. 3288 would amend the General Corporation Law to empower the 
Attorney General to subpoena witnesses and ascertain relevant facts relating to 
the Attorney General's existing powers to seek the dissolution of corporations 
engaging in fraudulent or illegal acts under Article 8 of the General Corpora-
tion Law. 

2. As a counterpart to the foregoing, S. I. 3289 would authorize a court upon 
application of the Attorney General to cancel the certificate of doing business 
under a trade style name by an unincorporated association upon a finding of 
fraudulent practice. 

The text of Mr. Javits' recommendations is as follows: 
It will be recalled that at the 1955 session of the Legislature a departmental 

bill was introduced to tighten up on the remedies available to this office in its 
effort to protect consumers against frauds in the sale of articles, appliances and 
services and against fraudulent practices such as "bait advertising" in so far as 
sellers, their agents and representatives were concerned. Such legislation failed 
of passage but this office has done its utmost in the past year, utilizing the legal 
tools which were available to deal with consumer frauds. Numerous complaints 

92 

NY STATE LEGIS ANN CH. 592 [1956] (STATING THAT 63(12) EXTENDED GENERAL

CORPORATION LAW, ART. 8) [ADD24­ADD27]
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NEW YORK STATE LEGISLATIVE ANNUAL - 1956 

Transportation corporations, foreign S. I. 2056, Pro 2235, McCullough Ch. 381 

General Corporation Law, § 211. Section 4 of the Transportation Corporation Law 
requires a corporation formed pursuant to that law, to set forth in the certificate 
of incorporation certain statements in respect to the territory, locality or routes 
of its operations. Section 5 of the Railroad Law requires a corporation formed 
pursuant to that law to state the kind of road to be operated and its length and 
termini. The principal purpose of the proposed bill is to make these requirements 
applicable to foreign corporations seeking authority to do business in New 
York as well as to domestic corporations. 

The proposed bill also deletes the words "or corporations" from subdivision 1. 
As presently worded, it could be contended that a foreign corporation can obtain 
authority to engage in two or more businesses for which a domestic corporation 
could not be formed. Thus, a domestic corporation may not be formed to engage 
in the real estate business and in that of a telephone company. A foreign corpo­
ration should likewise not be permitted to engage in diverse businesses requiring 
incorporation under separate acts. The deletion of the indicated phrase would 
remove any doubt on that score. 

State Department of Law Memorandum 

Corporations, annulment for fraud 
Associations, cancel certificate, frauds 

S. I. 3288, Pro 3557, Tompkins 
S. I. 3289, Pro 4089, Tompkins 

Ch. 465 
Ch.592 

General Corporation Law, § 92; Executive Law, § 63. These bills carry out recom­
mendations of Attorney General Jacob K. Javits to strengthen the hand of his 
office in protecting the public against consumer frauds: 

1. S. I. 3288 would amend the General Corporation Law to empower the 
Attorney General to subpoena witnesses and ascertain relevant facts relating to 
the Attorney General's existing powers to seek the dissolution of corporations 
engaging in fraudulent or illegal acts under Article 8 of the General Corpora­
tion Law. 

2. As a counterpart to the foregoing, S. I. 3289 would authorize a court upon 
application of the Attorney General to cancel the certificate of doing business 
under a trade style name by an unincorporated association upon a finding of 
fraudulent practice. 

The text of Mr. Javits' recommendations is as follows: 
It will be recalled that at the 1955 session of the Legislature a departmental 

bilI was introduced to tighten up on the remedies available to this office in its 
effort to protect consumers against frauds in the sale of articles, appliances and 
services and against fraudulent practices such as "bait advertising" in so far as 
sellers, their agents and representatives were concerned. Such legislation failed 
of passage but this office has done its utmost in the past year, utilizing the legal 
tools which were available to deal with consumer frauds. Numerous complaints 
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CORPORATIONS AND BANKING 

have continued to be received in this office, many investigations have been initiated 
and• results have often been achieved. Consistent with the indicated policy of 
the Legislature, this office has continued its study of possible strengthening of 
the legal remedies available in such cases in view of the continued widespread 
incidence of consumer frauds so costly to consumers and honest business alike. 

Illustrative of the successful action of the Attorney General are the decrees 
obtained to protect the consumer in the following areas: 

1. Food Freezer Plans—In 1955 the Attorney General's office obtained 
consent injunctions against 12 major food freezer plan operators, restraining 
them from such unfair competitive practices as advertising freezer-food com-
binations in a misleading manner, representing that the freezer is a gift, and that 
freezer and food may be purchased for the price the customer was paying for 
food alone. 

2. Storm Windows—Last year numerous complaints were received that 
consumers were unable to buy at the advertised price a storm window that had 
been widely advertised in the mass media. Prospective customers baited by the 
flood of advertising frequently paid up to eight times the advertised price of the 
"come-on" product. The situation was remedied to a great degree by the obtain-
ing by this office of permanent injunctions against several storm window 
corporations to regulate advertising practices of the defendants. Unincorporated 
firms, using the same techniques, could not similarly be regulated because of 
the lack of jurisdiction of this office, a situation demanding remedial action along 
the lines I herein recommend. 

3. Chinchillas—Mass media advertising was widely used to promote the 
sale of chinchillas for breeding purposes, leading prospective purchasers to 
believe that a fortune could easily be made in raising chinchillas. Misrepresenta-
tions were made as to the physical quality of the animals, their selling price, and 
the readiness of the selling company to repurchase animals raised. This matter 
was brought under control by a restraining order, consented to by the defendant 
corporation, to halt deceptive practices in promotion and sale of chinchillas. 

4. Dishes—A permanent injunction was obtained to halt a firm specializing 
in door-to-door sale of dishes from misrepresenting to prospective customers 
that a $20 reduction in price could be obtained if the prospect had box tops of a 
leading detergent. Investigation by this office disclosed that the soap companies 
had no connection or knowledge of this practice and that the retail value of the 
dishes in leading department stores was approximately one-half the price set by 
the door-to-door salesman. I emphasize that in this case, too, my office discovered 
unincorporated firms using similar practices but because of statutory limitations 
we are powerless to enjoin them. 

In the investigation of the complaints concerning consumer frauds, this 
office was hampered, and in many cases investigations were made extremely 
difficult because there is no provision in Article 8 of the General Corporation 
Law to empower the Attorney General to investigate and to subpoena witnesses 
to ascertain the relevant facts. This is an anomaly since the statute casts the 
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duty upon the Attorney General of moving to secure the termination of the 
activities of corporations engaged in illegal activities or in activities in excess 
of their corporate powers, and yet fails to arm the Attorney General with the 
satisfactory means of verifying the existence or non-existence of the statutory 
factors. 

Regarding the complaints of consumer frauds involving firms engaged as 
unincorporated business under the fronts of imposing trade names and styles, 
these unincorporated firms were not and are not subject to action by the Attorney 
General under Article 8 of the General Corporation Law. Consequently, they 
were able to continue with their activities with immunity from prosecution by 
the Attorney General. The operation of such a business under a trade name and 
style is a privilege afforded by law to a business firm by the State and, if the 
privilege is abused by consumer frauds or otherwise, the exercise of the privilege 
by these unincorporated firms should be terminated in the same way as the 
annulment of the charter of a corporation under Article 8 of the General 
Corporation Law is allowed.1  

Numerous complaints received by the Attorney General from consumers 
concern payment on account by members of the public of moneys to contractors 
for the construction of homes or for the improvement of existing dwellings. 
In most such cases, the contractors involved had either failed to undertake or had 
failed to complete the construction or improvement called for, while com-
mingling the advances with their own funds and using such funds for purposes 
other than those for which they were intended. By the time the complaints 
reached the office of the Attorney General, the firms were no longer in business 
and the public's moneys dissipated, causing untold hardship. 

Section 421 of the Penal Law now makes advertising with intent to sell any 
item "which is untrue, deceptive or misleading" a misdemeanor. The statute 
is now administered by the county district attorneys. This office has been giving 
and will continue to give study to this section and its enforcement in consultation 
with district attorneys and the Legislative Committee of the District Attorneys' 
Association. 

In order to more effectively deal with such frauds against consumers, I 
recommend the following legislation: 

1. A bill to amend Article 8 of the General Corporation Law, authorizing 
the Attorney General to obtain information relative to an inquiry thereunder 
and to subpoena witnesses and records? 

2. A bill to amend Section 440 of the Penal Law to authorize the Court to 
cancel the certificate of registration of a trade name and to issue an order 
restraining the continuance of fraudulent activities on the part of the registrant.3  

3. A bill to amend Section 1314 of the Penal Law to provide that advances for 
the purchase of real property upon which improvements are to be constructed or 
for improving real property already owned are received in trust for the payment 

lEnacted as Chapter 592. 
2Enacted as Chapter 465. 
3Introduced as A. I. 3521, Savarese, which failed. 
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of the cost of such property or improvements, and that a violation of such trust 
is larceny in the appropriate degree? 

Memorandum of Senator Frank S. McCullough 

Corporations, foreign, address 	S. I. 1957, Pr. 2117, McCullough 	Ch. 144 

General Corporation Law, §§ 210, 214, 217; § 214-a, new; Executive Law, § 96. 
In 1923, the pertinent provisions of Section 210 of the General Corporation Law 
were adopted whereby a foreign corporation qualifying in New York was 
required to designate an office and to give its address in particular detail. Also, 
the Secretary of State was to be designated as the agent for service of process 
against a foreign corporation. Separately in Section 217 of the General Cor-
poration Law, it is provided that the Secretary of State mail process to 
this office address. Because the location of the office and the mailing address 
are thus combined in a single statement, it is required that a foreign corporation 
file an amended statement and designation with a filing fee of $25.00 to change 
this address, thus ignoring the fact that this single statement of location of 
office serves a dual purpose: 

1. To establish a venue for the purpose of local court jurisdiction, and 
2. To establish a business mailing address for the convenience of the 

Secretary of State in disposing of process which may be served upon him 
as agent for the company. 

Apparently no thought was given to this dual aspect at the time of the enact-
ment of the law and the situation has remained static ever since. This may be 
partially attributable to the fact that the designation of the Secretary of State 
by previously qualified corporations was voluntary so that no immediate problem 
existed for the large number of companies which had previously qualified and, 
in a sense, had a choice of conforming to the new practice or continuing with 
their agent of record who had previously been designated. 

In 1934, the legislature determined that henceforth the Secretary of State 
would be designated the agent of domestic corporations, thus extending to 
domestic corporations the practice which had been previously applied to foreign 
corporations in 1923. Contrary to the change with respect to foreign corpora-
tions, the domestic change was made mandatory, so that, at the end of the 
grace period, any domestic corporations which had failed to designate the 
Secretary of State as their agent were deemed to have done so as a matter 
of statute. However, provision was made for a voluntary designation of the 
Secretary of State, together with the designation of a mailing address which 
could be changed subsequently by a filing of a certificate under Section 24 of the 
Stock Corporation Law with a filing fee of $2.00. 

It is believed that these two statutory events, ten years apart, have 
resulted in an inequity with respect to the treatment of foreign corporations 

lIntroduced as S. I. 3290, Tompkins; A. I. 3554, Amann, which failed. 
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By Order of Justice Ramos, these motion papers may not be taken apart
or otherwise tampered with.

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
NEW YORK COUNTY

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK by
ANDREW M. CUOMO, Attorney General ofthe State

of New York,l
Plaintiff,

Index No. 406796107
(Ramos, J.)

Motion Sequence No. 8

FIRST AMERICAN CORPORATION ANd FIRST
AMERICAN EAPPRAISEIT,

Defendants.

PLAINTIFF'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION TO STRIKE
DEFENDANTS'DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL

ry
Plaintifl the People of the State of New York by Andrew Cuomo, Attorney General of

the State of New York, submits this memorandum of law in support of its motion to strike

defendants'Demand for Jury Trial. Defendants are not entitled to trial by jury in this action

because the claims on which the action is based and the relief sought are equitable in nature and

because the statutory claims did not exist at common law. Accordingly, defendants'demand

should be stricken and the case should be placed on the court's non-jury trial calendar.

I-Plaintiffhas 
submifted a proposed order to substitute Eric T. Schneiderman, the current Affomey General of the State of New York, for

Cuomo, the fo.rmer Attomey General of the State of New York.
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Plaintiff, the People of the State of New York by Andrew Cuomo, Attorney General of 

the State of New York, submits this memorandum oflaw in support of its motion to strike 

defendants' Demand for Jury Trial. Defendants are not entitled to trial by jury in this action 

because the claims on which the action is based and the relief sought are equitable in nature and 
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should be stricken and the case should be placed on the court's non-jury trial calendar. 

1 
Plaintiff has submitted a proposed order to substitute Eric T. Schneiderman, the current Attorney General ofthe State of New York, for 

Cuomo, the former Attorney General ofthe State of New York. 



Facts

The Attorney General brought this action against defendants eAppraiselT, LLC ("EA"),la

real estate appraisal management company, and its corporate parent, First American Corporatiof

("First American") (collectively "defendants"). The action alleges that EA, one of the nation's

largest appraisal management companies, engaged in fraudulent, deceptive and illegal business

practices in connection with thousands of appraisals performed on New York properties for its

client, Washington Mutual (ooWaMu"). The complaint, a copy of which is annexed as Exhibit I

to the Affirmation of Ellen J. Fried in Support of Plaintiffs Motion to Strike Defendants'

Demand for a Jury Trial ("Fried Aff. Exh. 1"), alleges causes of action for fraudulent and illegal

conduct in violation ofNew York Executive Law $ 63(12), deceptive business practices in

violation of New York General Business Law (*GBL-) $349 and unjust enrichment. The

complaint seeks injunctive relief, disgorgement of all profits obtained from defendants'

fraudulent and illegal conduct, restitution, penalties, and "such other equitable relief as may be

necessary to redress First American and EA's violations of New York law."

As set forth in the complaint, EA systematically allowed loan officers to pressure

appraisers to return values high enough to permit mortgage loans to close. This violated federal

and state laws incorporating professional standards that require an appraisal to present an

independent and unbiased opinion ofproperty value, free from lender coercion or influence. A

the while, EA falsely represented that its appraisals were unbiased and satisfied professional

standards.

From the outset of its relationship with WaMu, EA adopted and implemented appraisal

assignment methods and other practices that undermined the integrity of the appraisal process.

To quell loan officer complaints regarding low values, EA readily agreed to assign appraisals to
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a pool of appraisers hand-picked by loan officers because they were more likely to deliver higher 

values. Senior EA executives knew that loan officers controlled the appraisal panel and that this 

assignment process violated applicable laws and professional standards. However, EA still 

adopted the assignment system to satisfy WaMu. 

In addition, throughout its business relationship with WaMu, EA exerted direct pressure 

on appraisers to increase values to WaMu's target amount without offering supporting 

information. This was done formally, through reconsideration of value ("ROV") requests, as 

well as informally, through repeated phone calls and inquiries. Aware that they risked losing 

WaMu business, many appraisers proceeded to return higher values that EA happily passed on t 

WaMu. If an appraiser stood firm on value, EA accommodated WaMu's desires by offering an 

alternative appraisal that hit value through "desk reviews," which involve very limited analyses 

and are typically reserved for quality control rather than value changes. EA also failed to stop 

WaMu loan officers from regularly contacting appraisers to pressure them for higher values. 

Plaintiff filed a Note of Issue and Certificate of Readiness on March 10, 2011. (Fried 

Aff. Exh. 2) Defendants the served a demand for a jury trial, dated March 14, 2011, pursuant t 

C.P.L.R § 4102. (Fried Aff. Exh. 3) Because this enforcement action arising under Executive 

Law § 63(12), General Business Law § 349, and common law unjust enrichment raises claims 

for which no right to jury trial existed at common law and because those claims and the relief 

sought are equitable in nature, defendants' motion for a jury trial should be stricken. 
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ARGUMENT

DEFENDANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED
TO TRIAL BY JURY

The New York Constitution confers the right to a jury trial in "cases in which it has

heretofore been guaranteed by constitutional provision." N.Y. Const. art. I, $ 2. This applies to

only "cases afforded a jury trial under the common law prior to 1777' and "cases to which the

Legislature extended a right a jury trial prior to 1894." Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n ("MVMA") ir.

State, 75 N.Y.2d 175, 181 (1990). Any issue that is not required to be iried to a jury must be

decided by the court. C.P.L.R. $ 4211. There is no right to a trial by jury in this case because

the underlying claims and relief sought are entirely equitable and because the two causes of

action under Executive Law $ 63(12) and GBL $ 349 were created by statute and unknown at

common law.

It is well-settled law in New York that trial by jury does not attachto actions for

equitable relief. In MVMA v. State, 75 N.Y.2d at l75,the Court of Appeals rejected a challenge

I
to the constitutionality of GBL $ 198a, known as the'New Car Lemon Law," on the ground th{t

ifc n^rnnrrlc nrw qrhitrclinn nrnwisinn denriwerl o.er .rrlanlltfactrrrers of the riohf fo a t-ial hv irrrv I

equitable relief. In MVMA v. State, 75 N.Y.2d at 175, the Court of Appeals rejected a challenge

its compulsory arbitration provision deprived car manufacturers of the right to a trial by jury. 
I

The Court held that the remedies provided under the law, which are the equivalents of specific

performance and restitution, are "equitable in nature." As a result, the Court concluded that such

claims "would not have been triable by jury under the common law" and that the automobile

manufacturers "were not entitled to a jury trial under article I, $ 2 of the New York Constitutionf "

Id. at 183; see also Jamaica Sav. Bank v. M.S. InvestingCo. ,274N.Y.215,220 (1g37)1"In an 
I

action in equity there is no right of trial by jury."); Siegel, New York Practice , 5 377 (2d ed.

1991) (actions for which a jury trial is required under C.P.L.R. $ 4101 are "the actions evolved
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the underlying claims and relief sought are entirely equitable and because the two causes of 

action under Executive Law § 63(12) and GBL § 349 were created by statute and unknown at 

common law. 

It is well-settled law in New York that trial by jury does not attach to actions for 

equitable relief. In MVMA v. State, 75 N.Y.2d at 175, the Court of Appeals rejected a Challenl'e 

to the constitutionality ofGBL § 198a, known as the "New Car Lemon Law," on the ground th t 

its compulsory arbitration provision deprived car manufacturers of the right to a trial by jury. I 

i 
I 

The Court held that the remedies provided under the law, which are the equivalents of specific I 

performance and restitution, are "equitable in nature." As a result, the Court concluded that such 
! 

claims "would not have been triable by jury under the common law" and that the automobile 

manufacturers "were not entitled to a jury trial under article I, § 2 of the New York ConstitutioJ" 

Id. at 183; see also Jamaica Sav. Bank v. M.S. Investing Co., 274 N.Y. 215, 220 (1937) ("In an I 

action in equity there is no right of trial by jury."); Siegel, New York Practice, § 377 (2d ed. 

1991) (actions for which a jury trial is required under C.P.L.R. § 4101 are "the actions evolved 
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through the common law courts, as opposed to those developed in equity (chancery), which

continue to be triable by the court"); Weinstein-Korn-Miller, New York Civil Practice: CPLR

fl 4101.02 ("The general rule is that if the matter was historically cognizable in a court of equityf

no right to a jury obtains, since equity courts operated without juries."). 
I

I

L

In this case, the causes of action under Executive Law $ 63(12) and GBL $ 349 are bothl
I

equitable in nature and unknown at common law. Executive Law $ 63(12) empowers the 
I

i

Attomey General to bring an action or special proceeding for injunctive relief, restitution,

damages, and costs where any person or business has engaged in repeated or persistent

frauduient or illegal conduct.2 GBL $ 349 similarly authorizes the Attorney General to bring ari

action to "to enjoin [deceptive] acts or practices and to obtain restitution of any moneys or 
I

I

property obtained directly or indirectly by any such unlawful acts or practices," and GBL

$ 350-d authorizes the court to impose civil penalties of up to $5,000 for each deceptive p*.ti"l.

Both Executive Law $ 63(12) and GBL $ 349 are statutory creations not existent at common lariv.

Thus, the traditional elements of common law fraud such as reliance, actual deception,

knowledge of deception, and intent to deceive are not required under either statute. People ex

rel. Spitzer v. Applied Card Sys.. Inc.,27 A.D.3d 104, 106 (3d Dep't 2005); State v. Gen. Elec.,

302 A.D.2d 314 (lst Dep't 2003); People ex rel. Cuomo v. Gagnon Bus Co., 30 Misc. 3d 12254

(Sup. Ct. Queens Co. 2011); see also Gaidon v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am.. 94 N.Y.2d 330,

343 (tggg) ("in contrast to common-law fraud, GBL $ 349 is a creature of statute based on broap

consumer-protection concerns"). Moreover, both Executive Law $ 63(12) and GBL $ 349 vest 
I

I

the court with broad equitable powers to redress fraudulent and illegal conduct. Remedial ordelp

I

pursuant to both statutes are to be broadly fashioned. State v. Princess Prestiee Co., 42 N.Y.2d

2 Although a request for damages was included in the prayer for relief in the complaint in this action, plaintiff is no

longer seeking.damages. 
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104, 108 (1977) (applications for remedial relief under Executive Law § 63(12) are "addressed to 

the sound discretion of the court."); State v. Gen. Elec., 302 A.D.2d at 314; State v. Maiorano, 

189 A.D.2d 766, 767 (2d Dep't 1993). 

The third cause of action for unjust enrichment also sounds in equity. See, e.g., Waldman 

v. Englishtown Sportwear, Ltd., 92 A.D.2d 833, 836 (1st Dept. 1983) ("An action to recover on 

the theory of unjust enrichment is for restitution . . . and is based on the equitable principles tha. 

a person shall not be allowed to enrich himself unjustly at the expense of another."); accord, 

Banco Popular N. Am. v. Lieberman, 75 A.D.3d 460, 463 (1st Dep't 2010). 

Consistent with the underlying causes of action, the relief sought in the complaint -- a 

permanent injunction, restitution of improperly earned appraisal fees and disgorgement of 

unjustly earned profits -- are all equitable remedies. The issuance of a permanent injunction is 

clearly an equitable remedy. Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U.S. 395, 397 (1946) 

(describing jurisdiction of court to enjoin acts and practices made unlawful by statute 

"equitable"); People v. Tellier, 7 Misc. 2d 43, 54 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1956) (injunctive relief 

under the Martin Act, on which Executive Law § 63(12) was modeled, "essentially equitable in 

character"); see also, 12 Carmody-Wait 2d, New York Practice, Injunctions § 78:101 ("A suit 

seeking a judgment containing a permanent injunction is merely a type of suit in equity . . . ."); 

67 N.Y. Jur. 2d Injunctions § 7 ("The authority of the court to award a judicial injunction after 

final trial of an action . . . is regulated by the rules and principles governing courts of equity.") 

The power to award restitution also lies within the equitable jurisdiction of the court. 

Restitution is an equitable remedy intended solely to restore the status quo ante. Restitution is 

directed at "restoring the status quo and ordering the return of that which rightfully belongs to 

6 

104, 108 (1g77)(applications for remedial relief under Executive Law $ 63(12)are "addressed

the sound discretion of the court."); State v. Gen. Elec. ,302 A.D.2d at314; State v. Maiorano,

189 A.D.2d 766,767 (2d Dep't 1993).

The third cause of action for unjust enrichment also sounds in equity. See. e.g., Waldmdn

v. Enelishtown Sportwear. Ltd. ,92 A.D.2d833, 836 (1st Dept. 1983) ("An action,o."ror.. orl
I

the theory of unjust enrichment is for restitution . . . and is based on the equitable principles tha{

I

a person shall not be allowed to enrich himself unjustly at the expense of another."); accord,

Banco PopularN. Am. v. Lieberman, 75 A.D.3d 460,463 (lst Dep't 2010).

Consistent with the underlying causes of action, the relief sought in the complaint -- a

permanent injunction, restitution of improperly earned appraisal fees and disgorgement of

unjustly earned profits - are all equitable remedies. The issuance of a permanent injunction is

clearly an equitable remedy. Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U.S. 395,397 (1946)

(describing jurisdiction of court to enjoin acts and practices made unlawful by statute

"equitable"); Peqple v. Tellier, T Misc. 2d43,54 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1956) (injunctive relief

under the Martin Act, on which Executive Law $ 63(12)was modeled, "essentially equitable in

character"); see also, 12 Carmody-Wait 2d, New York Practice, lnjunctions $ 78:101 ("A suit

seeking a judgment containing a permanent injunction is merely a type of suit in equity . . . .");

67 N.Y. Jur. 2d Injunctions $ 7 ("The authority of the court to award a judicial injunction after

final trial of an action . . . is regulated by the rules and principles goveming courts of equity.")

The power to award restitution also lies within the equitable jurisdiction of the court.

Restitution is an equitable remedy intended solely to restore the status quo ante. Restitution is

directed at "restoring the status quo and ordering the retum of that which rightfully belongs to

6

ADD34

I 
I 

. I 

104, His (1977) (applications for remedial reliefunder Executive Law § 63(12) are "addressed t 
the sound discretion of the court. "); State v. Gen. Elec., 302 A.D.2d at 314; State v. Maiorano,· 

189 A.D.2d 766, 767 (2d Dep't 1993). 

The third cause of action for unjust enrichment also sounds in equity. See, e.g., Waklm~ 

v. Englishtown Sportwear, Ltd., 92 A.D.2d 833, 836 (1 st Dept. 1983) ("An action to recover on 

the theory of unjust enrichment is for restitution ... and is based on the equitable principles tha~ 

a person shall not be allowed to enrich himself unjustly at the expense of another. n); accord, 

Banco Popular N. Am. v. Lieberman, 75 A.D.3d 460, 463 (1st Dep't 2010). 

Consistent with the underlying causes of action, the relief sought in the complaint -- a 

permanent injunction, restitution of improperly earned appraisal fees and disgorgement of 

unjustly earned profits -- are all equitable remedies. The issuance of a permanent injunction is 

clearly an equitable remedy. Porterv. Warner Holding Co., 328 U.S. 395, 397 (1946) 

(describing jurisdiction of court to enjoin acts and practices made unlawful by statute 

"equitable"); People v. Tellier, 7 Misc. 2d 43, 54 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1956) (injunctive relief 

under the Martin Act, on which Executive Law § 63(12) was modeled, "essentially equitable in 

character"); see also, 12 Carmody-Wait 2d, New York Practice, Injunctions § 78:101 (nA suit 

seeking a judgment containing a permanent injunction is merely a type of suit in equity .... "); 

67 N. Y. Jur. 2d Injunctions § 7 ("The authority of the court to award a judicial injunction after 

final trial of an action ... is regulated by the rules and principles governing courts of equity. ") 

The power to award restitution also lies within the equitable jurisdiction of the court. 

Restitution is an equitable remedy intended solely to restore the status quo ante. Restitution is 

directed at "restoring the status quo and ordering the return of that which rightfully belongs to 
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the purchaser . . . ." Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U.S. at 402; see also, MVMA v. State, 

75 N.Y.2d at 182 (describing restitution as "equitable in nature"). 

Disgorgement has also long been recognized as an equitable remedy, distinct from 

restitution. People ex rel. Spitzer v. Applied Card Sys., Inc., 11 N.Y.3d 105, 125-26 (2008) 

(citing SEC v. Fischbach Corp., 133 F.3d 170, 175 (2d Cir.1997) ("As an exercise of its equity 

powers, the court may order wrongdoers to disgorge their fraudulently obtained profits.")); 

accord Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of WorldCom, Inc. v. SEC, 467 F.3d 73, 81 (2d 

Cir. 2006). Disgorgement is an equitable remedy "designed to deprive a wrongdoer of his unjust 

enrichment and to deter others" from future violations. SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., 890 F.2d 

1215, 1230 (D.C. Cir. 1989); FTC v. Gem Merch. Corp., 87 F.3d 466 (11th Cir. 1996); see also  

New York City Econ. Dev. Corp. v. T.C. Foods Import and Export Co.,11 Misc. 3d 1087(A) 

(Sup. Ct. Queens Co. 2006) (disgorgement as a restitutionary remedy for unjust enrichment). 

The majority of state courts that have considered the issue have determined that there is 

no right to a jury trial in actions for equitable relief and civil penalties under consumer protectiop 

statutes similar to New York's. 54 A.L.R.5th 631 § 2[a]. The courts do not differentiate civil 

penalties from other equitable relief but rather treat civil penalties as part of the statutory 

remedial scheme and incidental to injunctive relief, restitution, and other equitable remedies. 

See, e.g., Martin v. Heinold Commodities, Inc., 643 N.E.2d 734 (Ill. 1994) (no right to a jury 

trial under Illinois Consumer Fraud Act which created a new right not known at common law); 

State v. Ameritech Corp., 517 N.W.2d 705 (Wis. Ct. App. 1994), affd, 532 N.W.2d 449 (Wis. 

1995) (no right to a jury trial in action for injunctive relief and civil penalties brought under the 

state's consumer act); State v. Alpine Prods., 490 N.W.2d 888 (Minn. Ct. App. 1992) (state 

action seeking injunctive relief, restitution, and civil penalties under state's consumer protection 
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I

ADD35

the purchaser .... " Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U.S. at 402; see also, MVMA v. State, 

75 N.Y.2d at 182 (describing restitution as "equitable in nature"). 

Disgorgement has also long been recognized as an equitable remedy, distinct from 

restitution. People ex reI. Spitzer v. Applied Card Sys., Inc., 11 N.Y.3d 105, 125-26 (2008) 

(citing SEC v. Fischbach Corp., 133 F.3d 170, 175 (2d Cir.l997)("As an exercise of its equity 

powers, the court may order wrongdoers to disgorge their fraudulently obtained profits."»; 

accord Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of World Com, Inc. v. SEC, 467 F.3d 73, 81 (2dr 
I 
i 

Cir. 2006). Disgorgement is an equitable remedy "designed to deprive a wrongdoer of his unju~t 

enrichment and to deter others" from future violations. SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., 890 F.2d I 

1215,1230 (D.C. Cir. 1989); FTC v. Gem Merch. Corp., 87 F.3d 466 (11th Cir. 1996); see also l 

New York City Econ. Dev. Corp. v. T.e. Foods Import and Export Co.,ll Misc. 3d 1087(A) 

(Sup. Ct. Queens Co. 2006) (disgorgement as a restitutionary remedy for unjust enrichment). 

The majority of state courts that have considered the issue have determined that there is 

no right to a jury trial in actions for equitable relief and civil penalties under consumer protection. 

statutes similar to New York's. 54 A.L.R.5th 631 § 2[ a]. The courts do not differentiate civil 

penalties from other equitable relief but rather treat civil penalties as part of the statutory 

remedial scheme and incidental to injunctive relief, restitution, and other equitable remedies. 

See, e.g., Martin v. Heinold Commodities, Inc., 643 N.E.2d 734 (Ill. 1994) (no right to ajury 

trial under Illinois Consumer Fraud Act which created a new right not known at common law); 

State v. Ameritech Corp., 517N.W.2d 705 (Wis. Ct. App. 1994), afrd, 532 N.W.2d 449 (Wis. 

1995) (no right to a jury trial in action for injunctive relief and civil penalties brought under the 

state's consumer act); State v. Alpine Prods., 490 N.W.2d 888 (Minn. Ct. App. 1992) (state 

action seeking injunctive relief, restitution, and civil penalties under state's consumer protection 

7 



and anti-trust statutes was "entirely equitable" and thus no right to a jury trial); State ex rel.  

Douglas v. Schroeder, 384 N.W.2d 626, 629-30 (Neb.1986) (no jury trial right in action by the 

Attorney General seeking an injunction, restitution, and civil penalties under the Nebraska 

Consumer Protection Act); Nei v. Burley, 446 N.E.2d 674 (Mass. 1983) (no right to a jury and 

Massachusetts's consumer protection statute because it is "equitable in nature" and created "n 

substantive rights in which conduct heretofore lawful under common law is now unlawful"); 

State ex rel. Dep't of Ecology v. Anderson, 620 P.2d 76 (Wash.1980) (no right to a jury trial in 

consumer protection actions brought by the Attorney General for an injunction, restitution, and 

civil penalties); Kugler v. Market Dev. Corp., 306 A.2d 489, 492 (N.J. Sup. Ct. Ch. Div. 1973) 

(no right to a jury trial in action for injunction, restitution and civil penalties under New Jersey 

Consumer Fraud Act on the grounds that the cause of action and right to seek redress were 

"foreign to the common law, being modern day creations of the Legislature for the life and cure 

of a current mischief. "). 

Although the Supreme Court in Tull v. United States, 481 U.S. 412 (1987), held that an 

action for a civil penalties under the Clean Air Act was a legal claim analogous to an 18th  centur  

action in debt and that a defendant in an action for penalties under the Act was entitled to a jury 

trial on the issue of liability under the Seventh Amendment of the United States Constitution, th 

Seventh Amendment does not apply to actions in state court. Curtis v. Loether, 415 U.S. 189 

(1974); GTFM, LLC. v. TKN Sales, Inc., 257 F.3d 235, 240 (2d Cir. 2001) (citing Gasperini v.  

Ctr. for Humanities, Inc., 518 US. 415, 418 (1996) ("Seventh Amendment . . . governs 

proceedings in federal, but not in state court")); State v. Ameritech, Corp., 517 N.W.2d at 709. 

Moreover, state courts have rejected the application of Tull to statutory enforcement actions 

under state law, finding that such actions are primarily equitable and that civil penalties are a 
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necessary adjunct of remedial relief. State v. Irvins Oil Corp. , g55 A.2d1098, I 107 (Vt. 2008

(claim for civil penalties in the context of a statutory environmental enforcement action "servels]

a remedial purpose" and is "essentially equitable;" thus right to jury trial did not attach); S*tU
rel. Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Washington Educ. Ass'n, 49 P.3d 894,909 (Wash. 2002)

(right to jury trial denied on ground that the "nature of the lawsuit was primarily equitable" andi

civil penalties were "incidental" to equitable relief); DiPirro v. Bondo Corp. ,62 Cal. Rptr. 3d

722,748 (Ct. App. 2007) ("statutory remedies afforded by the [Safe Drinking and Toxic

EnforcementJ Act, including civil penalties, are not damages at law, but instead constitute

equitable relief . . . which do not entitle the plaintiff to a jury trial"); Comm'r of Envtl. Prot. v.

Capozziello,629 A.2d I 116 (Conn. 1993) (environmental enforcement statute for injunctive

I

relief and civil penalties "primarily equitable" and do not provide right to jury trial); Ameritechl

I

517 N.W.2dat709. 
I

I
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, there is no right to trial by jury in this action.

Accordingly, defendants' demand for a jury trial should be stricken and this action should be

restored to the non-jury calendar of this Court.

Dated: New York, New York
May 24,2011

Respectfu lly submitted,

Attorney General of W State ofNew York

Ellen J. Fri
Assistant Attorney General
Bureau of Consumer Frauds and Protection
120 Broadway
New York, N.Y. 10271

By:

ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN
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Respectfully submitted, 

ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN 
State of New York 

Assistant Attorney General 
Bureau of Consumer Frauds and Protection 
120 Broadway 
New York, N.Y. 10271 
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ELLEN J. FRIED, an attorney admitted to practice before the Courts of the State of New 

York, makes the following affirmation under penalty of perjury: 

1. I am an Assistant Attorney General in the office of Eric T. Schneiderman, 

Attorney General of the State of New York, assigned to the Consumer Frauds and Protection 

Bureau located at 120 Broadway, New York, NY 10271. I am an attorney admitted to practice 

before the Courts of the State of New York. 

2. On the 25th day of May, 2011, I caused to be served by electronic mail, to the 

below reference e-mail addresses, and by first-class mail in a properly enclosed post-paid 

wrapper, in a drop-box regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service at 120 

Broadway, New York, the annexed Notice of Motion to Strike Defendants' Jury Demand, 

Affirmation of Good Faith in Support of Motion to Strike Defendants' Jury Demand and 

Plaintiffs Memorandum of Law in Support of Its Motion to Strike Defendants' Demand for a 

Jury Trial to the following addresses: 

Richard F. Hans, Esq. 
Jeffrey D. Rotenberg, Esq. 
DLA Piper LLP 
Attorneys for Defendants 
1251 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10020-1104 
Richard.hans@dlapiper.com, Jeffrey.rotenberg@dlapiper.com  

Dated: May 25, 2011 
New York, New York 

Ellen J. Fried 
Assistant Attorney General 
Consumer Frauds and Protection 
120 Broadway, 3rd  Floor 
New York, New York 10271 
ellen.fried@ag.ny.gov  
(212) 416-8348 

'*#:{::#

AFFIRMATION Otr' SERVICE

ELLEN J. FRIED, an attorney admitted to practice before the Courts of the State of New

York, makes the following affirmation under penalty of perjury:

1. I am an Assistant Attorney General in the office of Eric T. SchneiderTnan,

Attorney General of the State of New York, assigned to the Consumer Frauds and protection

Bureau located at 120 Broadway, New York, NY 10271. I am an attomey admitted to practice

before the Courts of the State of New York.

2. On the 25thday of May, 20ll,I caused to be served by electronic mail, to the

below reference e-mail addresses, and by first-class mail in a properly enclosed post-paid

wrapper, in a drop-box regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service at 120

Broadway, New York, the annexed Notice of Motion to Strike Defendants'Jury Demand,

Affirmation of Good Faith in Support of Motion to Strike Defendants'Jury Demand and

Plaintiffs Memorandum of Law in Support of Its Motion to Strike Defendants,Demand for a

Jury Trial to the following addresses:

Richard F. Hans, Esq.
Jeffrey D. Rotenberg, Esq.
DLA Piper LLP
Attorneys for Defendants
1251 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10020-1104
Richard.hans@dlapiper.com, Jeffrey.rotenberg@dlapiper.com

Dated: May 25,2011
New York, New York

Assistant Attorney General
Consumer Frauds and Protection
120 Broadway, 3'd Floor
Ne.w York, New York 10271

Ellen J. Fried

ellen. fri ed@ag. ny. gov
(212) 416-8348
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AFFIRMATION OF SERVICE 

ELLEN J. FRIED, an attorney admitted to practice before the Courts of the State of New 

York, makes the following affirmation under penalty of perjury: 

1. I am an Assistant Attorney General in the office of Eric T. Schneiderman, 

Attorney General of the State of New York, assigned to the Consumer Frauds and Protection 

Bureau located at 120 Broadway, New York, NY 10271. I am an attorney admitted to practice 

before the Courts ofthe State of New York. 

2. On the 25th day of May, 2011, I caused to be served by electronic mail, to the 

below reference e-mail addresses, and by first-class mail in a properly enclosed post-paid 

wrapper, in a drop-box regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service at 120 

Broadway, New York, the annexed Notice of Motion to Strike Defendants' Jury Demand, 

Affirmation of Good Faith in Support of Motion to Strike Defendants' Jury Demand and 

Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law in Support of Its Motion to Strike Defendants' Demand for a 

Jury Trial to the following addresses: 

Richard F. Hans, Esq. 
Jeffrey D. Rotenberg, Esq. 
DLA Piper LLP 
Attorneys for Defendants 
1251 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10020-1104 

RiChard.hans@dlapiper.com,Jeffrey.rotenberg@dlaPiper.:: 1, ~. . 
Dated: May 25, 2011 ~ 

New York, New York 
Ellen J. Fried 
Assistant Attorney General 
Consumer Frauds and Protection 
120 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
New York, New York 10271 
ellen.fried@ag.ny.gov 
(212) 416-8348 



By Order of Justice Ramos, these motion papers may not be taken apart 
or otherwise tampered with. 
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By Order of Justice Ramos, these motion papers may not be taken apart 
or otherwise tampered with. 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
NEW YORK COUNTY 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK by 
ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN, Attorney General of the 
State of New York,' 

Plaintiff, 

- against - 

FIRST AMERICAN CORPORATION and FIRST 
AMERICAN EAPPRAISEIT, 

Defendants. 

Index No. 406796/07 
(Ramos, J.) 

Motion Sequence No. 8 

PLAINTIFF'S REPLY MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION TO 
STRIKE DEFENDANTS' DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL 

Preliminary Statement  

Plaintiff, the People of the State of New York by Eric T. Schneiderman, Attorney 

General of the State of New York, submits this Memorandum of Law in reply to defendants' 

memorandum of law in opposition to plaintiffs motion to strike defendants' Demand for Jury 

Trial and in further support of plaintiffs motion. Defendants cannot dispute that there is no 11 

to a jury trial in New York where the underlying causes of action were unknown at common law 

and the relief sought is equitable in nature. Nor can they dispute that the causes of action in this 

case arise under Executive Law 63 § (12) and General Business Law ("GBL") § 349, both of 

which are statutory creations unknown at common law, and that the relief sought here for 

injunctive relief, restitution and disgorgement are equitable. Nevertheless, defendants argue that 

1
Plaintiff has submitted a proposed order to substitute Eric T. Schneiderman, the current Attorney General of the State of New York, for Andrew 

Cuomo, the former Attorney General of the State of New York. 

By Order of Justice Ramos, these motion papers may not be taken apart
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I
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I

which are statutory creations unknown at common law, and that the relief sought here for
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plaintiffs request for civil penalties for defendants' fraudulent and deceptive appraisal prac ces - 

- relief authorized by GBL § 350-d and routinely sought in any deceptive practices law 

enforcement action -- somehow transforms the entire nature of this proceeding and affords them 

a right to a trial by jury. 

Defendants argue that they are exposed to massive penalties and make little or no 

reference to the various forms of equitable relief which are equally or more important in any 

consumer protection lawsuit, including this one. Under defendants' reasoning, the right to a .11.ry 

trial in a lawsuit asserting statutory claims and various forms of equitable relief turns solely on 

restitution as 	and disgorgement 
\ 

compare to the potential amount of other monetary relief, such 	
--19 

Defendants offer no case law to support this position, which defies logic and is contrary to well-

accepted state law finding no right to a jury trial in consumer protection law enforcement cases I, 

even where penalties are sought. Defendants misconstrue both the nature of this action and the 

applicable case law. There is no right to a jury trial in this action. 

For the reasons stated below and in Plaintiffs Memorandum of Law in Support of Its 

Motions to Strike Defendants' Demand for a Jury Trial ("P1. Memo"), defendants' arguments 

should be rejected by the court, the demand for a jury trial should be stricken, and the case 

should be placed on the court's non-jury trial calendar. 

whether statutory penalties are sought and how the potential magnitude of those penalties 

plaintiffs request for civil penarties for defendants,fraudure nt anrr Ama^+^+i- i

ent and deceptive appraisal prac$ces _
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"";;;;;lrjr.,

::::""::,'-:::*:* 
statutorv craims and various forms of equitabre rerief turns sorerv ol,

whether statutory penalties are sought and how the potentia, n,urr,,uo";;:r^ 

rur,s sulel/-oil

compare to the potential amount of other monetary rerief, such as restitution ; :,rff;.rP
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even wherepenarties are sought. Defendants misconstrue both the nature "ararr;;;,l]o "1

applicabre case law. There is no right to a jury triar in this action. 

qru Lus

For the reasons stated below and in Plaintiffs Memorandum of Law in support of Its

Motions to strike Defendants,Demand for a Jury Triar (,,pr. Memo,,), defendants,arguments

should be rejected by the court' the demand for a jury triar shourd be stricken, and the case

should be placed on the court,s non_jury trial calendar.
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- relief authorized by GBL § 350-d and routinely sought in any deceptive practices law 
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should be placed on the court's non-jury trial calendar. 
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ARGUMENT 

DEFENDANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED 
TO TRIAL BY JURY 

Defendants do not dispute the fundamental principle, as enunciated by the Court of 

Appeals in Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n ("MVMA") v. State, 75 N.Y.2d 175, 183(1990), that th* 

is no right to a jury trial under New York law for claims that "would not have been triable by 

jury trial under the common law," including, in particular, claims for equitable relief. Nor do 

defendants dispute that plaintiffs claims for fraudulent and deceptive business practices under 

Executive Law § 63(12) and GBL § 349 are statutory creations not available under common laiv 

and that the relief sought here -- a permanent injunction to stop defendants' deceptive and 

fraudulent appraisal practices, restitution for approximately 10,000 consumers who paid millio s 

of dollars in appraisal fees for tainted and falsely inflated appraisals and disgorgement of 

defendants' ill-gotten gains -- are quintessentially equitable in nature. Instead, defendants argue  

that plaintiffs request for statutory civil penalties as authorized under GBL § 350-d generates a 

right to a jury trial because defendants allege such relief is legal in nature. Defendants' attempt 

minimize the equitable nature of this action and paint this case as one for civil penalties divorced 

from equitable relief is not supported by the facts or the applicable law. 

A. 	A claim for civil penalties in an action to enjoin fraudulent and deceptive business  
practices under the State's consumer protection statutes does not covert an equitable 
action into a legal one.  

It is well-established in New York that where, as here, the primary character of an actiorp. 

is equitable, a claim for monetary relief -- even where that relief is for money damages, a 

traditionally legal remedy -- is merely incidental to the equitable claims and does not give rise t 

right to a jury trial. See Lynch v. Metro. Elevated Ry., 129 N.Y. 274 (1891) (no jury trial when 

main relief is injunction against nuisance; damages for past injuries is "incidental to the equitable 
3 
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I
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that plaintiffs request for statutory civil penalties as authorized under GBL $ 350-d generates a

right to a jury trial because defendants allege such relief is legal in nature. Defendants' attempt {o
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I
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is equitable, a claim for monetary relief -- even where that relief is for money damages, a

I
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that plaintiffs request for statutory civil penalties as authorized under GBL § 350-d generates al 
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right to a jury trial because defendants allege such reliefis legal in nature. Defendants' attempt to 
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from equitable relief is not supported by the facts or the applicable law. 

A. A claim for civil penalties in an action to enjoin fraudulent and deceptive business 
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action into a legal one. 
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It is well-established in New York that where, as here, the primary character of an actio* 

'
I is equitable, a claim for monetary relief -- even where that relief is for money damages, a ' 

traditionally legal remedy -- is merely incidental to the equitable claims and does not give rise t~ 
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right to a jury trial. See Lynch v. Metro. Elevated Ry., 129 N.Y. 274 (1891) (no jury trial when! 
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relief sought");Jamaica Sav. Bank v. M.S. Investing Co.,274N.Y.215 (1937); Adelstein v. 
i

City of New York,2l2 A.D.2d748(2d Dep't. 1995)(iury trial denied in action for abatement,

L

injunction and damages for nuisance); Homburser v. Levitin,I40 A-D.zd 583, 584 (2d Dep't

1988) ("Even where, as incidental to the main relief prayed for, the complainant asks for monry
i

damages, a separate trial by jury is not within the purview of the constitutional guarantee");

Pasqua v. Pasqua,2I2 A.D.2d356,356-57 (lst Dep't. 1995) (no right to a jury trial where 
I

essence of action is "equitable in nature" and "defendant's incidental request for money damag{s
I

does not require otherwise"); Agrawal v. Razgaitis, 2Og A.D.2d 566,566(2d Dep't. l99a) fiur[

request denied when "plaintiffs claims were essentially for equitable relief and damages

demanded by him were merely ancillary") appeal denied, 85 N.Y.2d s03 (1995); Page v.

Herkimer Lumber Co., 109 A.D. 391,393 (4th Dep't. 1905) (no right to a jury trial in an actionl

L

to enjoin a trespass; such an action was equitable and a claim for treble damages merely 
I

"incidental to the equitable relief sought")

Whether monetary claims are incidental to the equitable claims does not turn on the

amount sought but rather on the overall nature of the underlying claims. Monetary claims are

I

incidental to the equitable claims even where the amount sought is substantial. See 73A N.Y. I

Jun.2o Jury 515; Kaufman v. Brenner. 63 A.D.2d 692 (zdDep't 1978), aff-d,46N.y.2d 787
I

I(1978) (main thrust of action was in equity for specific performance and recovery of $1,350,0!0

in damages was subsidiary).

Although there is no reported New York case that directly addresses the right to a jury

trial in an action under Executive Law $ 63(12) or GBL $ 349, courts construing comparable

state consumer protection and deceptive practices acts have concluded, consistent with the long

line of New York cases cited above, that statutory civil penalties are incidental to the equitable
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line of New York cases cited above, that statutory civil penalties are incidental to the equitable I 
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and remedial nature of such statutes and do not entitle a defendant in such an action to a jury 

trial. Indeed, as cited in plaintiffs memorandum of law, there are numerous decisions finding ro 

right to a jury trial in cases brought by state attorneys general to enforce consumer protection and 

deceptive practices acts, notwithstanding claims for statutory penalties. Pl. Mem. 7-8. 

Defendants relegate their discussion of these cases to a footnote, arguing that they are "not 

instructive" simply because defendants believe the penalties in this case are "paramount" and 

speculate that this was not so in those cases. Defs. Opp. Mem. 8, n.5. 

As Nebraska's highest court stated in rejecting a claim that the defendant was entitled to a 

jury trial under Nebraska's deceptive practices act: 

While the act permits the recovery of an attorney fee, restoration of 
the purchase price, and the imposition of civil penalties, its 
principal thrust is to prevent unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 
trade or commerce. Consequently, the act is equitable in nature, in 
the sense that it seeks to prevent prejudicial conduct rather than 
merely compensate such damage as may flow therefrom. The 
monetary consequences imposed to discourage future like acts and 
practices are ancillary to the act's principal equitable thrust. 

State ex rel. Douglas v. Schroeder, 384 N.W.2d 626, 629-30 (Neb.1986). See also State v.  

Alpine Prods., 490 N.W.2d 888 (Minn. Ct. App. 1992) (state action seeking injunctive relief, 
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Commodities, 643 N.E.2d 734 (Ill. 1994) (court reinstates statutory punitive damages awarded 

by trial court and holds no right to a jury trial under state Consumer Fraud Act). 

In contrast, none of the New York cases relied on by defendants supports their claim of a 

right to a jury trial. Defs' Opp. Memo 4-5, 7. None are governmental enforcement actions 

brought on behalf of the public for injunctive relief, restitution and disgorgement for violations 

of law but are rather actions that sound in law not equity. Thus, In re DES Mkt. Share Litig., 79 

N.Y.2d 299 (1992), was a personal injury action for money damages by plaintiffs injured by 

defendant and plainly not an equitable action. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Sparacio, 25 

A.D.3d 777 (2d Dep't. 2006) raised the issue of the obligation of plaintiff to provide uninsured br 

underinsured motorist benefits to the defendants. IDT Corp. v. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter & 

Co., 12 N.Y.3d 132 (2009), was an action for interference with contract, seeking primarily 

compensatory damages, a traditional legal remedy. Likewise, Rental & Mgmt. Assoc. v.  

Hartford Ins. Co., 206 A.D.2d 288 (1st Dep't 1984), which involved a private action for wrongful  

eviction, did not even consider civil penalties but rather the imposition of treble damages, which  

is a legal remedy. Thus, contrary to defendants' assertion, Hartford does not stand for the 

proposition that civil penalties amount to statutory punitive damages. Defs' Opp. Memo 7. 

Defendants' reliance upon Fire Dep't v. Harrison, 17 How. Pr. 273 (N.Y.C. C.P. N.Y. CO. 

1859), is equally misplaced. Harrison is cited by defendants for the proposition that civil 

penalties were established as a legal remedy and required a trial by a jury under common law 

(Defs. Opp Memo 5) proves no such thing. The decision in Harrison turned on the facts that th0 

plaintiffs had not asked for an injunction and thus the action was not one in equity, and that the 

nature of the claim mirrored a common nuisance claim, where a right to a jury trial exists. As 

the court noted "the complaint does not seek the aid of equity jurisdiction and there is nothing in 
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the case which . . . forms the ground of equity jurisdiction; and when that is the case, the right a 

trial by jury is absolute." Id. 

B. 	The federal precedents relied on by defendants are inapposite.  

Given the complete absence of New York case law to support their claim for a jury tria' 

in this action, defendants look to the Supreme Court's decision in Tull v. United States, 481 US. 

412 (1987) (Defs' Opp. Memo 8-11), and some other federal case law. However, defendants' 

reliance on these cases is misplaced. 

As defendants readily concede, Tull is not controlling here. Defs' Opp. Memo 8. In T 

the Court held that an action brought by the federal government to obtain civil penalties for 

violation of the Clean Water Act was analogous to a common law action in debt traditionally 

triable in a court of law and further characterized the relief sought as essentially punitive in 

nature, a remedy also traditional available only at law. Thus, the Court held that the defendant 

was entitled to a trial by jury under the Seventh Amendment of the United States Constitution On 

the issue of whether a violation of the Act had occurred.2  481 U.S. at 420-23. However, as 

noted in plaintiffs original memorandum of law, Pl. Memo 8, the Seventh Amendment does not 

apply to actions in state court. See also Minneapolis & St. Louis R.R. Co. v. Bombolis, 241 U.S. 

211 (1916). 

Moreover, claims under Executive Law § 63 (12) and GBL § 349 bear no similarity to an 

action in debt. Both are broad remedial statutes that created new causes of action for fraudulent  

and deceptive conduct going far beyond common law fraud. See P1. Memo 5-6. Both also 

authorize a wide array of equitable relief, including injunctive relief, restitution, and 

2  However, the Court concluded that the court and not the jury should determine the amount of civil penalties. 
(noting that imposition of civil penalties involved "highly discretionary calculations" that are traditionally performed 
by judges). 481 U.S. at 425-26. 
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disgorgement. In contrast, an action in debt at common law in New York was considered "an 

appropriate remedy to enforce a bill or note, an account state, and obligations of record such as a 

judgment." Norwich Pharmacal Co. v. Barrett, 205 A.D. 749, 752 (3d Dep't. 1923). The idea of 

an action of debt is that "it is founded on a contract, express or implied, to pay money in a certain 

sum, or which can readily be reduced to a certainty." Id. at 752. Accord, Kelly v. L.L. Cool J.  

145 F.R.D. 32, 39 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (Under New York law, "debt is an action for a sum certain' ). 

While plaintiff seeks the maximum penalties under GBL § 350-d for each deceptive business 

practice, the amount of any potential penalty awarded is not yet reducible to a sum certain, givp 

that the court has yet to determine the number of tainted appraisals in question and other relevant 

factors. 

Tull can also be distinguished on its facts. In Tull, the penalties sought were, in fact, thtF 

primary relief sought and were not incidental to broad equitable relief there. Because most of the 

properties had been sold prior to the Government's action, "the Government was aware when it 

filed suit that relief would be limited primarily to civil penalties." 481 U.S. at 424. There were  

no restitution or disgorgement claims in Tull. In contrast, here plaintiffs seeks millions of doll 

in restitution for approximately 10,000 consumer victims, disgorgement of profits, and injunctive 

relief to ensure that defendants, who continue to render appraisals, render independent and 

unbiased appraisals in conformance with state and federal law and refrain from misrepresenting 

the nature of these appraisals.3  

3 
Defendants' insistence that plaintiffs claims for injunctive relief are moot (Def. Mem. 2, 10) is unfounded. 

Defendants did not stop their unlawful and deceptive appraisal practices until the Attorney General brought this 
action. Moreover, the equitable claims for relief can hardly be characterized as insignificant or moot. Contrary to 
defendants' argument, a permanent injunction remains an important component of the equitable relief requested by 
the Attorney General. (Defs' Opp. Memo 10). Indeed, New York courts have consistently held that the voluntary 
discontinuance of fraudulent or illegal conduct is no defense to an action for an injunction because there is no 
assurance that such conduct will not be resumed. State v. Gen. Elec., 302 A.D.2d 314, 316 (1st Dep't. 2003); State it. 
Wilco Energy Corp., 284 A.D.2d 469 (2d Dep't 2001); State v. Midland Equities, 117 Misc. 2d 203, 207 (Sup. Ct. 
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In addition, numerous states have rejected the reasoning of Tull and its application to 

state statutory enforcement schemes. For example, in Comm'r of Envtl. Prot. v. Connecticut 

Bldg.Wrecking Co., 629 A.2d 1116, (Conn. 1993), the Connecticut Supreme Court rejected 

Tull's analogy to an action in debt. The court held that an "environmental enforcement action for 

injunctive relief and civil penalties . . . is not substantially similar to an action in debt" because 

the amount sought by the government is unliquidated and because the statute in question 

conferred discretion on the court to determine the amount of the penalty. Id. at 1122. In State x 

rel. Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Washington Educ. Ass'n., 49 P.3d 894, 908 (Wash. Ct. App.  

2002), rev. denied, 66 P.3d 639 (Wash. 2002), the Washington court rejected Tull's analogy to 

an action in debt as "too broad" and concluded that a statutory claim for civil penalties did not 

have a common law equivalent. And, in State v. Irving Oil Corp., 955 A.2d 1098 (Vt. 2008), the 

Vermont Supreme Court likewise found that Tull was not persuasive. Rejecting Tull's conclusir 

that civil penalties are punitive, the Court held that civil penalties were "essentially equitable." 

Id. at 1107. 

The primary purpose of civil penalties is not punishment. Rather, 
these penalties serve a remedial purpose by making noncompliance 
at least as costly as compliance. They also reimburse the 
government for enforcement expenses and other costs generated by 
the violation. 

Id. See also Pl. Memo 8-9. 

New York courts have also rejected application of Tull on the grounds that the Seventh 

Amendment does not apply to the states. See Dept. of Hous. v. Deka Realty Corp., 208 A.D. 2d 

37, 51 (2d Dep't. 1995) ("Seventh Amendment has never been held applicable to the States"); 

N.Y. Co. 1982). State v. Hotel Waldorf Astoria, 67 Misc. 2d 90, 91-92 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1971); State v. Bevis 
Indus., 63 Misc. 2d 1088, 1092 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1970); People v. Ludwig Baumann & Co., 56 Misc. 2d 153 (Su 
Ct. N.Y. Co. 1968). 
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that civil penalties are punitive, the Court held that civil penalties were "essentially equitable." . 

Id. at 1107. 

The primary purpose of civil penalties is not punishment. Rather, 
these penalties serve a remedial purpose by making noncompliance 
at least as costly as compliance. They also reimburse the 
government for enforcement expenses and other costs generated by 
the violation. 

Id. See also PI. Memo 8-9. 
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New York courts have also rejected application ofTull on the grounds that the Seventh I 
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Amendment does not apply to the states. See Dept. ofHous. v. Deka Realty Corp., 208 A.D. 24 

37,51 (2d Dep't. 1995) ("Seventh Amendment has never been held applicable to the States"); 

N.Y. Co. 1982). State v. Hotel Waldorf Aston!!, 67 Misc. 2d 90, 91-92 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1971); State v. Bevis tl 
Indus., 63 Misc. 2d 1088, 1092 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1970); People v. Ludwig Baumann & Co., 56 Misc. 2d 153 (Su . 
ct. N.Y. CO. 1968). . 
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Dept. of Hous. Preservation v. All-Boro Mgmt., 2005 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 3577, at 3 (Civ. Ct. 

Kings Co. 2005) (same). These courts have also rejected Tull's characterization of civil penalties 

as punitive. See Deka Realty, 208 A.D.2d at 51 (no basis to landlord's conclusory assertion that 

civil penalties for housing code violations were punitive and afforded him right to jury trial); 	 

Boro Mgmt., 2005 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 3577 at 4 (no right to a trial by jury under New York 

Constitution in "proceedings involving the imposition of civil penalties and the enforcement of 

housing standards.") 

Finally, defendants' reliance upon U.S. v. J.B. Williams, 498 F.2d 414 (2d Cir. 1974), and 

U.S. v. Dish Network, 754 F. Supp. 2d 1002 (C.D. Ill. 2010), federal actions for civil penalties 

under the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") Act, is also unavailing. Both Williams and Dis1T  

Network were based under the Seventh Amendment of the United States Constitution, which, 

discussed above, does not apply to the states. Dish Network, decided after Tull, was bound to 

follow the Supreme Court's decision, which states are not. In addition, the FTC in Williams was 

not seeking an injunction, restitution or disgorgement but only civil penalties for the company's 

violation of an existing consent order. It is also significant to note that Williams, decided pre-

Tull, received virtually no support. Judge Oakes issued a vigorous dissent, and the decision wa le 

criticized in legal commentaries and was directly rejected by the Third Circuit. See, e.g.,  Note, 

Constitutional Law, 53 Tex. L. Rev. 387 (1975);  U.S. v. Reader's Digest Ass'n., 662 F.2d 955 (30 

Cir. 1981) (court awards $1.75 million in penalties for company's deceptive mailings, holding 

jury trial required). And, although it is true that New York's deceptive practices law, like most 

other states' similar acts, was modeled on the FTC Act, this fact does not lead to the conclusion 

that defendants are entitled to a trial by jury in this case. The FTC Act is looked to as a guide fo• 

determining what constitutes deceptive practices and the appropriate remedies for redressing 
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such practices. See State v. Feldman, 210 F. Supp. 2d 294 (S.D.N.Y. 2002); Oswego Laborer' 

Local 214 Pension Fund v. Marine Midland Bank, 85 N.Y.2d 20 (1995). It does require states to 

adopt all the procedural requirements under the federal law, including the application of the 

Seventh Amendment of the United States, and states have not done so. Indeed, there are 

significant differences between federal and state deceptive practices laws. For example, the 

Attorney General enforces state consumer protection laws solely through the courts, while the 

FTC is an administrative agency that uses the administrative process to investigate and 

adjudicate issues involving deceptive practices. In addition, GBL § 349 provides a private right  

of action which the FTC Act does not. See GBL § 349(h). 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, there is no right to trial by jury in this action. 

Accordingly, defendants' demand for a jury trial should be stricken and this action should be 

restored to the non-jury calendar of this Court. 

Dated: New York, New York 
June 15, 2011 

Respectfully submitted, 

ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN 
Attorney General of the State of New York 
Jane M. Azia 
Bureau Chief 
Consumer Frauds and Protection Bureau 

By: 

/4--< 
Ellen J. Fried 
Assistant Attorney General 
Bureau of Consumer Frauds and Protectiop. 
120 Broadway 
New York, N.Y. 10271 
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AFFIRMATION OF SERVICE 

ELLEN J. FRIED, an attorney admitted to practice before the Courts of the State of NeW 

York, makes the following affirmation under penalty of perjury: 

1. I am an Assistant Attorney General in the office of Eric T. Schneiderman, 

Attorney General of the State of New York, assigned to the Consumer Frauds and Protection 

Bureau located at 120 Broadway, New York, NY 10271. I am an attorney admitted to practice 

before the Courts of the State of New York. 

2. On the 15th day of June, 2011, I caused to be served by electronic mail, to the 

below referenced e-mail addresses, and by first-class mail in a properly enclosed post-paid 

wrapper, in a drop-box regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service at 120 

Broadway, New York, the annexed Plaintiffs Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of Its 

Motion to Strike Defendants' Demand for a Jury Trial to the following addresses: 

Richard F. Hans, Esq. 
Jeffrey D. Rotenberg, Esq. 
DLA Piper LLP 
Attorneys for Defendants 
1251 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10020-1104 
Richard.hans@dlapiper.com, Jeffrey.rotenberg@dlapiper.com  

Dated: June 15, 2011 
New York, New York 

Ellen J. ne 
Assistan Attorney General 
Consumer Frauds and Protection 
120 Broadway, 3rd  Floor 
New York, New York 10271 
ellen.fried@ag.ny.gov  
(212) 416-8348 
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PfiELIM1NARY STATEMENT 

The Attorney Ge neral seEks reargume nt pursua n t to Ru le 

600. 14(a) and l'CspcctfulJy requcsts that the CO UI't delete thc sente nce 

in its dCClsion nnd order stating tha.t the cause of act ion under 

Executivc Law § 63(1 2) was properly dismissed. 

The Attorney Gencral's compla int asserts four causes of action: a 

clluse of action alleging pe r6ietenL fraud or illegality under Exec utive 

Law § 63(12); two causes of action allegi ng securities fra ud under the 

Ma rtin Act ; and a ca use of action allcgine decept ive prHt:t ice~ under 

General Business Law (G HL) § 349. All of the causes of action res t Ull 

allegations tho t defendant Chades Schwab & Co. made act ionable 

misrepresentations to retall brokerage customer/:! III its marketing of 

auction rate securities. Supreme Court. New York County (Sherwood. 

J.) dismissed the entire complaint, holdi ng that the Martm Act and 

ExecutIve Law claims failed because the Attorney Genl! ra i had not 

pleaded ac~io nable misrepresentations, and the GBL § 349 claim failed 

because thn t staiute does not apply to securities transactions. 

On a ppea l, this Court re instated t ile Attorney Genera l's causes of 

Hcliu ll under the :\1artin Act, concluding t hat the complamt adequa tely 



ADD59

alleged that Sc hwab made act iona ble misreprC8cnlutions rega rding 

auction rate securities. The Court neverthe less affirmed t he dis missal 

of the Attorney General's firs t cause of nction unde.· Executive Low 

§ 63(1 2), which wa!> ba!led on the very same mi sreprese ntntions.- The 

Court said that the § 63(12) ca use of action should be dismissed because 

t,he ~ltl tu t.c ~does not create independent claims. bu t merely a uthorize~ 

t.hc AtLol' llCY Genera l to seek injunctIVe oud other rditd .. , In cases 

involving persistent fraud or illegality." Ex . A, Sli p Op. a t 7, reported at 

109 A.D.3d 445, 449 (lst Dep't 2013),2 

The Auol'flcy Ge nand res!)ectfully asks the Cou rt to g ra nt 

rea rgum ent and delete the se ntence in iu deci9ion concerning the cause 

of action und er Exeeutive Law § 63(12). Sch ..... ab did not argue in this 

appea l tha t , even ir t he i\l artin Act causes of action were reinstated, the 

I The Cou rt a lso affirmed the di5mi.~sal of t he GD L § 349 cause of 
action. This motion does not contest that ruling. In our opem ng brier in 
this Il ppea l, we acknow ledged that the § 349 cause of action a ppeared to 
be foreclosed by precedent of this Court, holding that securities 
transactions are not consumer-oriem ed t'O llIl ucl wil.hiu tht! Sl:OIJe of 
§ 349 See Hr. al 25 n.7 (citing Fesseha u. TD l~alerhotj se b ),u, Sr:rus., 
305 f\ .U.2d 268, 268 (1st Dep't 2003»). 

2"he exhibit~ referenced in this memorandum of law a rc attac hed 
to the Affinnution of Brian A S ut herland, submitted herewit h. 

2 
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§ 63(12) cause of action should sti ll be dismissed. The trial court had 

rejected an argument by Schwab to that effect be low, and Schwab 

abandoned the argument on appeal. This Court therefore dismissed the 

§ 63(12) cau:!tl uf action on grounds that we re neithet· briefed nor argued 

by the pllI"ties. Moreover, the Court's dismissal of the § 63(12) cause of 

UI.;tion in l.hi'::! case is lnconsistent with numerou8 prior decisions or this 

Cuurt upholding compla ints asse lting a ca use of aclion or ca uses of 

flct.ion unde r Executive Law § 63(12) thal are not distinguishable in a ny 

re levulll. ~tln~t: from the cause of action asserted under § 03(12) in this 

case. Further, the Court':! asse r tion .. hat § 63(12) "does not create 

independent claims~ is mistaken, lit h:!llst in a ny sense that IS re le\'ant 

to whether the Attorney General's § 63(12) cause of action should go 

forward here. 

The Court's holding that the compb:lint pleads actionable 

misrepresentations by Schwab me ans that the § 63(12) cause of actIOn 

should not be dismissed. And the Court's discussion ur § 63(12) in its 

decision mu y breed confusion about that vitally importa nt stAtut.e in thtl 

lowel' cou rts. To the extent that the Court perceives a quefltion as 1O 

whether the Attorney General's cause of action under § 63(12) is via ble, 

3 
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we ask t ha t the Court leave the question (0 be addrcsscd in a future 

appeal in which the Attorney Ge neral has a fu ll opportunity to brief and 

res pond to the issue. 

ltEASONS TO GRANT REARGUlIlEl\T 

Section 63(12) is one of the Attorney General's most impurtll ilt 

enforce ment toola m protecting the integrity of the commen;hJI 

marketplace in New York. The s tatute aut.horizes the Attorney 

General-and on ly the Attorney Ge neral- to apply to Supreme Court, 

on five days' notice, fol' a n inju nctlon, restltutlon, damages, and ot her 

relief when 1\ person or entity e ngages in "repented fra udulen t or Illegal 

acts or othe rwise de mons t rate/s) persis te nt fraud or Illegality" in the 

can'yIng on of business, The statute the l'efore estab lishes liability 

where a defe nda n t commits persiste nt fraud or persistent illegality 

(w hich generally re fers to violation of a state or fede ral statute or 

regulation), The Attorney Geneml may plead a § 63(12) cause of action 

by itself or togethe r with other ca uses of act ion supported by tho facts . 

In sec urities cases, the Altorney General (.'(J mmonly pleads 

parallel cla im)o, under the Ma rt in Act a nd Execu tive Law § 63(12), tiS 
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the comploint in this caae doe9, to obtain 1:111 remedies availabJe under 

the s ta tutes. Section 63(12) defines "fraud" bl'Oatlly, in virtually 

identIca l terms to the deflnition under the Martin Act , S rare v. 

RachmQlli Corp" 71 N.Y.2d 718. 721 n.1 (1988), Pt:opll! u. Grefmberg, 95 

AD.gd 474. 4S2.83 (1st Dep't 2012). aiI'd. 21 N.V.3d '139 (2013). As this 

Cou rt has held , "ltl]nder section 63(12). the test. for fraud is whether the 

targeted nct has the cupacity or tendency to deceive, or creates an 

atmosphere conducive to fraud ." People u. General Elec. Co" 302 A.D.2d 

31 4, 31 '1 (1st Dep't 2003). Neither the Martin Act nor § 63{l2) requires 

the Attorney General TO prove intent to defraud (scien ter) or rehance , 

See, e,g .. G,.een berg, 95 A .D 34'1 .<It 482·83; Slu!e u. SO/lifer Realty Corp. , 

212 A.O,2d ;JBB, 367 (1st Dep't 1995), 

Because a finding of fraud under the Martin Act alsn establishes 

fraud under Executive Law § 63(12), a nd a lso because viol a tions of the 

Ma rt in Act are actionable unde r § 63( 12)'s illegality prong, courts ofte n 

resolve parallel claims under the Ma rtin Act n nd § 63(12) in a s ingle 

analysis. See, e.g., Rachmani, 71 N.Y,2d at 721 n.l; Greenberg, 95 

AD.3d at -18-1 ·85. The same approach is approprIate here: whLie Schwab 

has contested whether the complaint adequately pleads thlud , it has 
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never contest ed rhllt the al1eged fJ·aud. if properly pleaded, qua lifies as 

repea ted (,W pel'::; istent, with in (he meaning of § 63(12)' 'I'h' h' 
. erclorc, t 19 

Court's holding that the oomplain t here adequately plea ds actionable 

fl'aud under the Mnd~i n Aet also means thRt the complaint adequa tely 

pleads act iona ble fmud under § 63(12) 

Consequently, by this motion for reargume nt. the Attorney 

Ge mwul requests thll t the Court delete the followi n!; senLence in its 

opinion a ffi rming the dis missa l of the ca use of Action uncle r Executive 

La w § 63(12): 

T Ilt: first ca use of nction WllS properly dismissed lIlasm uch 8S 

Executive Law § 63(12), upon which it is based, does not 

create inde pende nt cl ai ms, but me rely authorizes the 

Attorney Ge neral to seek injunctive a nd other re lief on 

nutice prescribed by the statute in case'!; involving per:! istcnt 

fraud or illegality (see Slale uf New York v CorteJle Corp. , 38 

NY2d 83, 86 11 975]), 

Ex. A .. Slip Op. at 7. 

3 The provis ion dcfine3 "pers iste nt frllud or illcgnlit)·" to i nclud~ 

"continua nce or carrying on of any fra udule nt or ilIeglllllct or co~d~ct . 

It defines "repea ted" to Include "repetition of a ny separllte and d istinct 

fraud u le nt or illega l act, or conduct which affectR more than ono 

" 

pe rson. 
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This sentence ack nowledges t hat the Attorney Gene ra l may seek 

the !'cm!!dies that § 63(12) a ut.horizes ill thi .. action, but nonethe less 

holds that the § 63(12) cu use of action should be dismissed as a 

sepal'3te ly pleaded cause of action. The CO Ol'I. s hou ld gra n!. reargumelll 

a nd de lete til(! scnte nce beca use (i) Schwa b raised no conte ntion specific 

to t he plcCJd ing of t he § 63(12) cause of action in thIS appeal ; (i l) the 

concl us ion chll t Ihe § 1'13(12) cUW::lC of tlctiull hcrc ~houlu be u.is miss€ d ie 

inconsis te nt with numemus decis ions of Lhili Cu urt; a mI (ill) the CUUlt is 

mis ta ke n in relyi ng nn the Court of AI)pea ls' decision in Cortelle for the 

proposit ion tha t the § 63(12) ca use of actio n here shuuld be dismi ssed 

becllUse the s tatu te "don not create independe nt claim~.u 

1. Schwab did no t argue tha t the § 68(12) enllse 
of actio n should be dismissed even if t he 
Martin Act causes of a cti on were reinstated. 

I n this a ppea l, Schwab raised nu a rgume nt that would support 

dismissal of the § 63(12) ca use of action alone, in the eve nt that the 

Marti n Act causes of action were reinsta ted. The Attorney General 

cOl"IScquently ha d no reason to brie f a ny such issue , <Iud he did not do 

50. Nor was any such issue disc ussed a t the ora l argu ment 

7 
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Schwab declhlcJ to raise any argument specific to the § G:3(I~) 

cause of action on appeal. even though it had raisc d- a nd lost.-suc h an 

argum ent in the trial court. In t he l'Ou rt below, Schwab had argued that. 

the Execut Ive L;!w claim should be di$mi$$cd because it was 

"dupltcatLve" of il nd "identical" to the Martin Act claims (R. 3:'H. "00. 

401). The trial court squarely rejected that argument under the wel!­

se ttled principle that a party if! en titled to asse rt multip le claims for 

relief based on the same facts: the Cow'l, held tha t "the t\C is entitled to 

assert cla ims under the Executive Lnw, the Martin Act, and GBL § 349 

eve n though the AG's claims under t hose statutC$ may be related" (R. 

J9). [ly declinLng to challenge thBt as pect of the trial court 's ruhng or its 

rca Oluning on appeal, Schwab abandonpd any argument concernins It. 

See. e.g .. Peop!c (;. Degondea, 3 A.D.3d H B. 161 (1s t Dep't 2003) 

(argu ments not raised in bl'iefs on appea l deemed abandoned); People !J. 

America/~ l.,lolor Club. Inc. , 179 A.D.2d 277, 283 (lSL Dep't 1992) (same); 

Homey L. '(isyi Taxi C;orp. 93 A. D.2d 291. 292 (15t De p't 19M3) (same). 

8 
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2. 'rhe concJusion tJl a t t.h e § 68(1 2) cause of 
action h Cl'c s hould be dis missed is 
incons isten L with numerous decisions of thi s 
COUI't. 

In uddition to a ddressing a n issue tha t was not briefed in this 

appea.l, the Co urt',!; se ntence discussing the § 63(12) cause of BeLion is 

cont.rary to numerous decisions in which this Court has upheld the 

At torney Ot:nel'a l's pleading of disti nct causes of action under Exec utive 

Law § 63( 12). Tht! Court's dism issa l of the § 63(12) cause of Bction here 

is at odd~ wil.h these materially indistingu ishable prior decisions. and It 

is likely to hreed confusio n in the lower courts. 

Po r pXHmple . in People v. American Motor Cltlb, Inc. , this Court 

re versed the I ri .. i murt's de ni al of the Attorney Ge ne ... al's motio n for 

leave to amend his petition to the extent it sought to add a cause of 

nction for pers istent fraud under Executive Law § G3(12). See 179 

A.D .2d a t 282; Ex .• f (p roposed amende d petit ion). The Attorney Gonera! 

had asse rted three causes of nction in hiS proposed pct ition, a ll of them 

under his § 6:J(12) authority. Tho first two ca uses of actio n alleged 

pe rsistent violations or" the Insurance Law, and the t hird ca U3e of action 

a lleged perslI.tont fra udule nt conduct as defined in § 63(12) itself T he 

trial coun ooncludcd tha t the third cause of action was "d upbcative" of 

9 
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the othe r (WO cau~ell of action asserted under § 63(12), ond denied leave 

to odd it to the petition. Sec id. In reversing, this Court explicitly 

concluded tha t [he thi rd cause of action for per5i5tent fraud unde r § 

63( 12) &hould be "l'pinstal(edJ as a couse of ac'iof~ and rcmondJed J for 

fUl,ther Pl'occcuings." ' d. at 284 (emphasis added). 

This Cou rt hHS a lso reviewed and upheld the validity of causes of 

action brought under Executive Law § 63(12) in a large number of othe l' 

casel!. T hese include several prior decisions of this Court upho lding 

compla ints in which the Attorney Ge neral asse rted claims for fraud 

under both Executive Law § 63{12) and the Ma.-tin Act, as the 

complaint here doc s. Sec Greenberg, 95 AD.3d 474; J"'eople L. Coventry 

F;", LLC, 52 A.D.3d 345 (ht Dep't 2008), .({,d, 13 N.Y.3d 108 (2009); 

Stale v. Fashion Place .r\ssocs. , 22 4 AD.2d 280 (lst Dep't 1996); Soniler 

Healty Corp. , 212 A.D.2d 366. In many other cases not presenting 

Martin Act causes of action, the Court ha.!! likewise upheld ca u~~!S uf 

action pleaded under § 63(12). See General Elec. Co .. 302 A.D.2d 314; 

ilmcricG!t Motor Club, Inc .. 179 A.D.2d 277: People u. Apple llealth & 

Sports Clubs, Ltd .. 206 A D.2d 2GG (l:;t Oep't 199'1): People u. Helena 

10 
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ViP Personal in.troductions Serus. 0/ N. Y., 

Dep't \993). -

illc., 199 A.D.2d 186 (1st 

3. The Cour t oC AppcnJs' de c ision in Co,.telJe 
d ocs not s upport t h e di s m i lSlS ai of the § 63(12) 
c au se of a c tio n in t his ca se. 

In the sentence in question, this Court relied solely un Stale of 

New York u. Cortdle Corp. , 38 N.Y.2d 83 (1975), which i t cited for the 

proposition tha t lhe § 63(12) cause of action here should be dismissed 

because § 63( 12) "tloes not. create independent c1aims.H See Ex . A, S lip 

Op . a t 7 . The ded!liu n i ll Cortelle pro .... ides no s up port for t he dism issa l 

of the § 63(12) cause of action here, and indeed no party cited COr/eile in 

thiS a ppeal. 

Co r/I'll" rt<ld ressed II question about t he applicable statute of 

limita tions ror the Attor ney General's causes of act ion under § 63(1 2) in 

that cnse. The Courl's ana lysis of that sta tute·of-limitations Question 

has no bearing (In the viability of the Attorney Ge neral's § 63(12) cause 

of action in th is case . rn Corlfdle, the Court of Appeals he ld that the 

4 Each of t he complaints fi led in t he actions referenced in the 
above paragraph ig nttached 1,0 t h A Affi rma ~iull uf Bt'ian A. S utherland. 
submitted herewith. 

11 
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Atuwncy Ge ne t'al's ca uses of action brought under Executive Law 

§ 63(12) were s ubie!.:l tu U I:lix-yeur I:!Lut u te of Lim ilal iolllJ, ruth e r dw n u 

three-year statute of limitat ions. On thi!J bHSis. tit !;! Court. revet'sed tJle 

lowe r cou rt's di smissa l of the Attorney Gener~l's CHuse!J uf action 

bro ugh t under !i:xec utive Law § 63(12). See 38 N. Y .2t1 tt t 89·90. If 

uny t hing, give n that t he Cou rt orde rp.rl r~ ill !S ta t.cment of' the cn U3es of 

action in Co r/cUe, the deci sion snpparts t he reinstA te ment of the 

Attorney Gene ral's § 63(12) ca use of ~ction here. 

In Its decision in this case, th is COllrr dt.ed (;orlelie for the 

proposition t hat. § 63( 12) "does not create independent clai ms, but 

mere ly authorizes the Attorney Ge nera l to seck injuncti\'e and other 

re hef on notice prescribed by the statute in cases involving persistent 

fraud or illega lity." Ex. A, Sli p Op. at 7. But the sentence's very 

dosc rlptlon of § 63(1 2) shows that t he sta tute does "el'cnte indepe ndent 

cJalm8, ~ in the only se nse that matters hero. T he se nte nce acknowledges 

tha t the stat ute 0) confers s ta nd ing on the At torney Genera l 

("a uthorizcs t he Attor ney Genc ral " to sue); (2) provides for re medi es 

(Ki nJuncl ive a nd other re lie f '); a nd (3) describes u s tandard of liability 

(8 pe rsistent fraud or illega lity"). These a re t he esse ntia l illgreditm ts of a 
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cau"e uf lI(.liufJ. AmI l lle CvurtS decisi(ln its('li ~stnb"shes that the 

comp lnint here properly pleads the eiemenL") of the § 63(12) cause of 

action. Because the Court concludes that the Attorney General's 

complaint adeq uately alleges fraud, the cause or action under § 63(1:l, 

shou ld not have been dis missed , 

The Court's se n lence about § 63(12) seems to be based on a 

~ latoment in Cortelle observing that, "[a ls applied to tho allegations in 

[that.) c.ase,~ Executive Law § 63(12) "crcutc[d) no new claims but only 

provide(dl p!trticular remedies and standing in n public office r to seek 

renl'f'SS on beha lf of tho State a nd othe rs." 38 N.Y.2d nt 8 6 (e mp h a sis 

added). BlIt as the opinion in CorlcUe makes clear, the reference to "nn 

Ilew claJms~ wns lIimed solely at refu ting the notio n that the Attorney 

Ge neral 's c~u"es of a elion in that coso were ba~ed on "WtlJrtgs not 

[pre vIO usly) recognized in thc common or decisiona l law." /d. (emphasis 

lldtlwi). Tha t was the relcvant question in determining whether t he 

three-yea r stE1tll te of limitations o f C. P .L.R. 214 (2), for wrongs new ly 

created by statute, would a pply. 

The Court held that the Attorne.y Gencrnl's ca uses of action were 

ba~d on a previous ly recognized wrong, and 1I1U~ we l'e not subject to 

13 
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the throe-yeal' limitations period of C P L R 21' (2) be ·· he ' . .. -, , I.:l:Iuse t causes 

of ::Ietian alleged willful misr~presentations that co nstituted "a now 

classic wrong on a common-law theory of pt'Omi88ory fraud " 38 N.Y.2d 

at 87. It was ill l.hi:s nmrow and specific se n~e that the Court said that 

§ 63( 12), 8S relevant La that case, "createldl no new claims." The Coun 

elsewhere expressed the same poin t by saying that "de fenrhtnts' alleged 

actions are and were wro ll gfu l prior to Bnd independent of the 

Executive Law.~ ld. This analysis in Cortelle perLa ined only to the i"sue 

whethel" the three-year ::Itlttute ufli mitaLiu ns in C.P. L.R. 214(2) applied, 

a nd it casts no doubt un the vii:lLil ity of t he AUnt-ncy General's § 63(12) 

ca use of action here. 

14 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reason!'!, the Attorney G I ene ra respectfully 

requests thac this Court grant reargument. delete the senteuce on pl:lge 

7 of the slip opinion dismissing the first cause of action under Execu live 

Law § 63( 12). and modify its decis ion to reinstate th e fll'st caust! of 

action , w the sa me exte nt that it reinstated the secund and third causes 

of Dction under the Martin Act. 
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THE COUUT SH OULD GRANT REAHGUMENT 

The Attorney General respectfully request!! that the Coun 

reins tate its ca use of Hction under E"cc utive Law § 63(12) and delete 

t.he sentence in its deciSIOn dismissing tha t cause of action on the 

grou nd that "§ 63(12) ... docs not create indepelldtmt cla ims ." People I). 

Charles SchUX1b & Co. , 109 A.D.3d 445. 449 (lst Dep' t 20 13) 

Schwab's OP1)osition only confirms Lhut. reargum en t is wa rran ted . 

Schwnb concedes t ha t its brle( on appeal did not argue tha t t he § 63(12) 

cause of BctlOn should be dis missed because the statul e does not create 

"indcpcndent clal mll." And though Schwl:l.b make!'! It ha lfhearted effort to 

defe nd t hat position now, it principally arl:ues tha t the § 63(12) Ca use of 

action should be dismissed on a ground different from that given in the 

Cou rt'e ruling . Schwab says thl:l.t the resl reason t he § 63(1 2) cause of 

action here fail s is t ha t the dl:f.im is d upli ca t ive of the Martin Act cause 

of action, which is a noLher I:lrg um ent tha i Schwab did not raise in thiS 

appeal. is incorrect. Hnd in Hlly event. should not be e ntel'ta ined for the 

first. lime on this reargument motion. 
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A. Schwab l\baudoDcd the Issue lD Question on 
Appeal. 

Schwab concedes tha i it d id not. Qrgue on appeal tha t the 

Executive Law § 63(12) CA u se of action should be di.!missed even If th e 

Martin Act clllim were reinstated . Sec Schwab's Mem. of LH w in Opp. to 

Pla intiff-Appell ant 's Mot. to Reargue C'Opp. ?o,·feUl .") at 2 (Schwab '"did 

not expressly renew that Ill'gumcnt"), It a rgues that (1) Ii respondent 

never abandons a ny issue raised below, e\'en if not aq~:ucd un II ppp.al , 

nnd (2) the Appellate Division may a ffirm on a ny \:rou nd raised below. 

Sec id. at 10-1 2. But the flrst point is incol'rect, a nd the 5econd is 

irrelevant. 

A respondent, just. like a n Ilppellum. ubu ndous is,s ut! iI when it fail s 

to raise them in its brief on appeal. See Malter of Molarauo u. Safir, 

261 A O.2d 142, 143 (lst Dep't 1999) (" We note respondents' 

aba ndonment on a pppAI nf their argulllt!IIL t,ha t t,he proceedin~ is time· 

barred ."). Otherwise opposing parties a nd the court would always have 

to address every point a responden t I'a il:!ed below, even if it. did not brief 

I I L stead to conse rve judicia l resources and focus t IU pomt on a ppcll. n , -

t t ·tled to limit its respo nse to th e issues raIsed. See matt.ers, a par y IS en 1 

Capta~n Brereton, 9r1 A.D.3d 824 , 825 n.* (~d Dcp'l 
Matter of "'.filler u. 

2 
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lUl:'::) (}\Horney Gene ral properly "hmlted his brief to the two issues 

raised 011 appeal by petitioncrD). 

The principle that the Appellate Division may aftirm un any 

ground raised below (S(!P Orr. Melli . at 10·11) does 1I0t. relieve the 

responde nt of the obligacio n to raise such a ground in iLs appeUIlLe brief. 

Although the appellate courts a re not confined b.y the triHI court's 

reason ing, t hey lire generally confined to t hf> issues Umt the IJR rLies 

present on appea l, for the simple reason that it is unrll ir to rule on 

points that. an opposing party had no mea ningful opportunity to addres!I 

during briefing or 01'0.1 argument. 

Schwab's only rejoinder is tha t the Attorney General had the 

upportunity to address the issue in the trial court a nd in the papers on 

this modon to reargue. Opp. Mcm. at 10 n.H. But Schwab did not argue 

below thllt Executive Law § 63(12) creates no independent clai ms. It 

made the differen t I:Irgument that the § 63(12) claim was ~dl1plicAtive" 

of the Martin Act. clA im (R. 334). i\'[oreo\'cr, the tria l court rejected thi:lt 

argumen t (R. 19), and Schwab admittedly did not "renew" it on appeal. 

Opp. Mem. at 2. 
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And it is ax:ioma.tic that a.ddressing a point in a l·eariume nt 

mot.ion is no su bstitute for having an opportunity to brief and a rgue it 

before a decision is issued. Schwab itself ailserts tha t ··rrJearsument is 

extraordmary relief," a nd insists that the Attorney General bears the 

~hea\'y bu rdcn~ of Identitying "controlling authority" that was 

overlooked. Upp. Mem. at 1-2. '{,heBo ato.ndards do not apply a t t.he 

merits stage, 80 the prejudice is obvious. And the abse nce of brlefing 

and a rgument on the § 63(1 2) issue hcre has produced a n erroneous nnd 

cUllfu~ in" ruling . as :;;hown by the fact that even Schwab tries to defend 

the rulini on a eround different from that s ta ted in the decision. 

B. Schwab All But Admits That the Court's Stat.ed 
Rutionale for Its Ruling Is Incorrect. 

Citing solely State v. Cortelle Corp., 38 N.Y.2.d R3 (1 975), R 

decis ion that reinstated causes of action brought puraua nt to Execu tive 

Law § 63(12), this Court dismissed the § 63(1 2) cause of a ct IOn here on 

the ground that "§ 63(12) ... docs not crea te independent claims." 109 

A.D. 3t.1. at 449. The Court !lccms to have re lied on the sentence in 

Cortelle J;l:Iy ill,, : "As applied to the allegations in this case, r§ 63(12) a nd 

BusineSIIi Corporation Law § 1101(a)(2)) create no new clai ms .... " 38 

4 
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N.Y. 2d a t 86. In recasting this sentence 8!1 Ii purported reason tu 

dis miss the § 63(12) cause or Hction here, thi!'! Cou rt a lte red It in two 

key ways. First, while Corlelle referred to an fl hRence of "n"w clai ms," 

mea nt there to s ignify that the pa rticular § 63(12) claims in that case 

rested on an a ccepted common-law theory of promissory fr aud , thi s 

Court chan ged the phra se to say here that § 63(1 2) doos not create 

"independellt cla ims," and said that thiS was a ground for dismissa l, 

which Corlelle never suggested. Second , while Cortelll! was speaking 

about the effect of § 63(12) specifically "(a]s applied to the all ega ti on s in 

th [atl case." again referring to the particular promissory fraud theory 

a sser ted there , this Court transformed it into a gene ral sta tement about 

§ 63(12). 

Thelie critical differences render the sentence in the present 

decil:sioll inaccura te. Even Schwab esscntia lly adm its that the CourI'Il 

stateme nt conflict!:! w ith Firat Department precede nt. Schwab concedG8 

that this Court's decision ill People u. American Motor Club, 179 A.D.2d 

277 (l!=.t Dep' t, 1992), held that "an independent cau se of action under 

ExecuLiv~ Law § G3(l2)" should have bee n a Uowad, and ordered that 

cau se of act ion reinstated. See Opp. Mem. at 8 (emphasis added) . The 

5 
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Court's statement here that § 63(12) "does not create independent 

claims," and its dismissa l of the § 63(1:J) cause of action for that reason, 

ill dU"eCtiy at odds with American Motor Club . 

Schwab a r"U~1l tba.t American Motor Club IS different because tbe 

Atl:orney Ge neral did not assert Martin Act claims in that case. See id. 

at 8-9. But the Court's sentence in lhe deciSIOn here dut!s H O I.. refer to 

the fact that the .<\t.torney Genera l has ussl!rtl!d Marlin Act cla ims. Nor 

were :Ma rtin Act causes of action a~!lerted in Cartel/e. Thus. in an 

attempt to reconcile this Court's deci; ion here with \ts decisiun ill 

American Motor Club, Schwab has severed any con nection tu Curiel/e. 

Thcse contortions not only demonstrate that the Court.'s ruling 

here is incorrect. but also provc the Attorney Generai"s point that the 

ruling will inevitably cause confusion 1I1 other § G:1(12) cases. Schwah 

"ay;;: the ratiunale he l'e is limited to cases where the Attorney General 

also brin~," M::Irtin Act. ca uses of action. but the decislOn docs not say 

t ha.t. And defendants in other cases tho t do not include Martm Act 

claim!; Are alrl!ady Ci ting the decision bere for the propoeitlo n that 

"independent causes of act iu n based on § 63(12) shou ld be 
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dismissed."1 The Court ::hould gra n t reargu me nt, delete the maccurate 

a nd confusing sentence from its decision , a nd reinsta te the § 63{l2) 

cause of action in th is CR. !le. 

C, The New and Different Ground Given by Schwab 
fOf ' Dillmissing the § 63(12) Cause of Action Is Also 
lncorl'cet. 

In any event, Schwab's ent irely di fferent a rgum ent t hat "it i9 

appl'opriate to dismiss an Executi ve La w cla im where t he Al lurney 

Cenera l a lso asser ts cla ims under a comprehensive sl..<l.tutory IOt:heme, 

hke the Ma rlin Act" (Opp. Mem. a t 6) is ma nifest ly incorrect, and 

Sc hwab provides no support fo r its theory. To determme whe ther the 

Ma rtin Act is suc h nn exclUSIVe sta tute , the Coun: would have to 

exa mine whethel' the Le~ islature intended to ma ke it exclusive. 

Certain ly, there is IlUtiUllg in the statute or It s his tory to sugges t a ny 

such IUten ti nn , and Supre me Court held directly to the cont rary , stating 

I Respondentil' Mem. of Law in Su ppurt of Their MoL. to Dism iss 
a t 42 0 .29. Pltop le v. Western Sky Finan.cial, LLC, No. 451370/201 3 
(Sept. . 17, :l0 13). The Court may tAke judicial notice of its own records, 
including bders fil ed in a nother case, Sec, e.g., HGH Liquidating Trust 
u. Dcloiu c & Touche LLP. 71 A.D . 3d 198, 207 (l s t Dep'L 2009). reu'd on 
other Ilrou,~ds. 17 N.V.3d 397 (2011 ). 

7 
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thllt "Inlothing in the Martin Act ITlHkeli its remedies exclusive of other 

l'!:!mediel' IlvoiJable under New York la w" (R. 19). See A ssured Gua,.. 

(UK) LId. v J.P. Morgan II1 IJ. Mgmt. inc., 18 N.Y.3d 341 , 350 (2011) 

(holding that nothing in the Martin . .a.ct Indicates an intent to displace 

common law cla ims in the fie ld of I3ccuritie!!l). Schwab doee not 

acknowledge Assurt'd G!toranty. and it lack/l a ny Cfl l;!e law II ti ppor~ of iLl! 

own for its "comprehensive schcmc~ argument. Schwab re lies only on 

two dii'liSenting opin ions, a nd on three tria l court decisione that do not 

inva lVl' the \hntin A<;l in au)' Wtly . Sw O pp. Mem. at 6-7 & n .2 . 

In any event, Schwllb's argument that any purportedly 

"comprehensive schemeH bars claims under Executive Law § 63(12) is 

directly refu ted by American Mo/()r CllLb , which canfirmll Lha L Lilt: 

AttOl-ney General may bring an independe nt cause of actio n for 

persistent fraud under § 63(1 2) alongside claims for persistent illega lity 

under the Lnsurance Law, see J 79 A.D.2d at 282-83----even t hough 

cou rt8 have also descri bed New York's insurance law as a 

"compre hensive scheme." City of N, Y. tJ. B,.iteslarr Homes, Inc., 150 

Misc. 2d 820, 823 (Sup. Ct. Bronx County 1991). Other decisions 

likewi se directly affirm the Attorney General's a u thority to bring cla ims 

B 
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based on violations of other statutory schemes that. defend.l:l ll Ls h.l:lve 

argued should be viewed a s exclusive. Spp n./so People u. Frink A m ., l nc. , 

2 A.D.3d lS79·B2 (4th Dep' l 2003) (rejecting argument tha t "remedies 

affo rded by Labor Law a rticle 6 are exclusive" and pernutting § 63(12) 

petition bused on vlola tiOns of the Labor Law) ; S tote L. \Vmter, 121 

.t\.U.2d 287, ~88 (1st Dep't 1i:j8ti) (rejecting argument tha t Attorney 

General lacked jurisdiction under § 63(12) to sue for repented violation 

of housing lawa); State v. SoW .f\lgmt. Corp., 128 Misc. 2d 767, 768-69 

(Sup. Ct. N.Y. County 1080) (same). Schwab's contention is al so 

inconsistent. with longstanding practice: the Attorney General 

frequently Iilet'; cllmplaultil asserting causes of action under both the 

Martin Act and the Executive Law. tlml this Court frequently u pholds 

the va lidity of such comp la ints. See Attorney General's Mem. of Law UI 

Su pport of MOL. to Reargue rAG Mem.") 9t 10. 

Schwab a lso argues that the Executive Law clai m should be 

dismi ssed because it is "redundant~ with and "duplicates" the Martin 

Act claim. See Opp. Mem. a t 8· 10. But Schwab concedes that cla ims are 

not duplicative if they have differe nt elements of liability 0 1' prOVIde 

uifTt!rent remedies. See id. at 8 (ide ntifymg rensons why pers istent 
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fraud cause of a ction was not duplicative of perSUHent illegality cause of 

a ction under § 63(12) in AmeriCUf! Motor Club). Under SchwAb's own 

test. the Executive Law claim i ~ nut dupliCH tlve hE'cause it reqUlres the 

Attorney General to prO\'e elements that he need not prove In 

COllllecLioll wiLh a Martin Act claim-namely, that the fraud or illegality 

Ot:! "I'I:!Vllntl:!d" or "pe rsisten!.," something tha t ii not in dispute on t h is 

appeal. 

Schwab a ttempts to avoid this obvious difference by claiming that 

"the Attorney General's brief here repeatedly confirms that [b is] Martin 

Act and Execu tive Law claims are completely redundant." Opp. Mem. at. 

8. But of course the Attorney General did not asecrt that the claims are 

redundant: rather, our brief argues that the Executive Law § 63(12} 

c1::.im should bl:! reinstated , because under the facts of thiS case. an 

actionable representation under the Martin Act ]s also an actionable 

misreprefolen ta tion under Executive Law § 63(12), and the remaming 

dll~tmct ele ments of liability under § G:J(1 2) are not at iaeuc on this 

appeaL Scc AG Mem. at 5·6 & n .3. ~{oreo"er. thou~h Schwab un plies 

that it is clear that the remedies available under ~ 63( 1 ~) a nd the 

Martin Act are identi cal, defl::! wlants frequently dispu te that 

to 



ADD86

proposition. Executive Law § 63(12) expressly enumerates "damages" as 

an available remedy, whertJalJ lhtJ text of the Mart in Act does not 

expressly enumera te "damages." Ann the Martln Act expressly 

discusses receive rship !! a!! a remedial device, whereas § 63(12) doell not. 

The Attorney General's position is that both statutes invoke the full 

sweep of the courts ' mherent re med ial aut hority, such that the 

remedies ava ilab le under t hem are the sa me, but defendants have 

contested that posit ion in Martin Act and § 63(12) cases, 

Indeed, Schwab argued below that the only remedies authorized 

under the Martm Act, and thu s available to t he Attorney Genera l here, 

were injunctive relief and restitution of a ny money obtained dIrectly or 

indirectly by the proscribed conduct (R. 338). Precisely because 

defendants often make this type of argumcnt, the Attorney General 

commonly pleads parallel claims under the Martin Act and Executive 

Law § 63(12) to protect the public with all remedies availab le. And this 

Court'a recognition in its decision that § 63(12) "authorizes the Attorney 

General to seek inJunctive and other relief' strongly 1m-plies that the 

Attorney Genera l may con tinue to pursue those remedies in this case, 

notwithstanding the dismissal of the § 63(1 2) count as a separa te cause 

11 
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of actioll. This is yet another importa nt way in which the position 

Schwab is adva ncing differs from the Cuurt's actual ruling_ 

At bottom, Schwab·s attempt to int.l-od u ce a brand -new IRsue of 

such pote nt ial s ignifi cance now only under scores the reasons to grant 

reargument and delete the sentence in the Court's decision concermng 

§ 63(12). The Attorney Genera l does not ask the Court to a ffirmatively 

l."'e80lve in our favor any question about the scope of § 63( 12), but rather 

only respectfull y requests that the Court leave any such question open 

for a future appeal that propel"ly and fa irly presents it. 
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CONCLUSION 

For t.he foregoing reasons, the Attorney Gene ra l respectfull:y 

reques t s that th is Court g rant rea rgument, de lete the se ntence on pagt 

7 of the slip opinion dismissing t he ftrSt cause of action under Executive 

Law § 63(l:J.), and modify its decision to reinstate t.he first ca use of 

action , to the same exte nt that it reinstated the eecond and t h ird CIHI8es 

of actio n under the Martin Act. 
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